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I. Procedural History 

On March 9, 2010, Cbeyond Communications, LLC (“Cbeyond”) filed its 
Complaint and Request for Declaratory Ruling against Illinois Bell Telephone Company 
d/b/a AT&T Illinois (“AT&T”) alleging that AT&T had violated Sections 9-250, 13-514 
and 13-801 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act (the “Act”) and breached the 
Interconnection Agreement (“ICA”) entered into by Cbeyond and AT&T pursuant to 
Section 252 of the Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“TA96”).   

On April 5, 2010, Illinois Bell Telephone Co. (“AT&T”) filed a Verified Answer and 
a Motion to Dismiss and Request for Declaratory Ruling.  On April 26, 2010, Cbeyond 
and Staff filed Responses to the AT&T Motion to Dismiss.  On May 10, 2010, AT&T filed 
a Reply in Support of Its Motion to Dismiss.  At a status hearing held on May 21, 2010, 
the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) denied the motion to dismiss, but noted that the 
interconnection agreement (“ICA”) between the parties was controlling in this matter. 

On June 30, 2010, Cbeyond and AT&T filed a Joint Stipulation.  On July 8, 2010, 
a Technical Conference was held at the Commission for all parties with both Cbeyond 
and AT&T providing subject-matter experts.  Also on July 8, 2010, a Mediation Session 
was held following the Technical Conference.  The Mediation Session did not result in 
an agreement.  On August 13, 2010, Cbeyond and AT&T filed Opening Briefs.  On 
September 28, 2010, Staff filed a Reply Brief.  On October 22, 2010, Cbeyond and 
AT&T filed Reply Briefs.  

On January 18, 2011, Cbeyond filed a Motion to Compel AT&T‟s Responses to 
Discovery Requests.  On January 25, 2011, AT&T filed a Response to the Motion to 
Compel.  Also on January 25, 2011, Cbeyond filed a Motion to Amend the Complaint.  
On January 28, 2011, Cbeyond filed a Reply in Support of its Motion to Compel AT&T 
Responses to Discovery Requests.  On February 9, 2011, AT&T and Staff filed 
Responses to Cbeyond‟s Motion to Amend the Complaint.  On February 18, 2011, 
Cbeyond filed a Reply in Support of its Motion to Amend the Complaint. On February 
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23, 2011, the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) denied the Motion to Compel and 
denied the Motion to Amend the Complaint, in part. 

On March 15, 2011, the ALJ‟s Proposed Order was served on the parties.  The 
ALJ also marked the record “Heard and Taken” on March 15, 2011 and cancelled the 
status hearing scheduled for March 16, 2011. 

II. Jurisdiction 

Both Cbeyond and AT&T are telecommunications carriers authorized by the 
Commission to provide telecommunications services in Illinois pursuant to 220 ILCS 
5/13-202 and 5/13-203. The Commission has the authority to regulate 
telecommunications carriers, as well as to enforce its orders and the Act. 220 ILCS 5/4-
101.   

The Commission has jurisdiction to hear complaints involving the entities it 
regulates. 220 ILCS 5/10-108. It has jurisdiction to address noncompliance with 
interconnection agreements approved by this Commission pursuant to Section 252 of 
the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“TA96”). 47 USC 252.  The Act grants the 
Commission jurisdiction to promote the development of competition in 
telecommunications service markets and to prohibit and penalize anticompetitive 
practices. 220 ILCS 5/13-801, 13-514, 13-515 and 13-516. 

III. Joint Stipulation 

On June 30, 2010, Cbeyond and AT&T filed a Joint Stipulation.  The parties 
stipulated to the following: 
 

1. The parties‟ interconnection agreement (“ICA”) contains rate elements and 
rates for the service ordering, installation and disconnection of unbundled 
DS1 Loops. 

 
2. The parties‟ ICA contains rate elements and rates for service ordering, 

installation and disconnection of unbundled dedicated transport (“UDT”). 
 
3. The Telecommunications Act of 1996 sought to encourage competition in 

the telephone marketplace, in part, by requiring Incumbent Local 
Exchange Carriers (“ILECs”), such as Illinois Bell Telephone Company 
(“AT&T”), to lease certain facilities to Competitive Local Exchange Carriers 
(“CLEC”). Those facilities are referred to as Unbundled Network Elements 
(“UNEs”). 

 
4. Some CLECs operate as “facilities-based CLECs” while others operate as 

“resellers.” This dispute concerns Cbeyond operating as a “facilities-based 
CLEC.” Cbeyond has represented that the only parts of Cbeyond‟s 
network that it leases from AT&T are (1) the “last mile” of telephone wires 
to the customer (called the “loop”); (2) collocation space in AT&T wire 
centers; and (3) wires from one AT&T wire center to another AT&T wire 
center (called “transport”). 
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5. The Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) has prescribed rules 

governing the facilities ILECs must lease to CLECs and setting forth the 
pricing standard governing the leasing of such facilities. One of the FCC‟s 
rules provides that ILECs must combine certain UNEs for CLECs (called 
combinations). One combination is called an Enhanced Extended Link 
(“EEL” pronounced like the aquatic “eel”). As defined in the parties‟ Third 
Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 05-0844, Section 0.1.19, 
an EEL is a UNE combination consisting of UNE loop(s) and UNE 
Dedicated Transport, together with any facilities, equipment, or functions 
necessary to combine those UNEs (including, for example, with or without 
multiplexing capabilities). The unbundled DS1 loop portion of an EEL is 
defined in Schedule 9.2.1 and Section 9.2.1.1 of the ICA, and Section 
0.1.13 of the Third Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 05-
0844. The unbundled transport portion of an EEL is defined in Schedule 
9.2.7 and Section 9.2.7.7.1 of the ICA, and Section 0.1.16 of the Third 
Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 05-0844.  

 
6. All customers are attached to (served by) a wire center. “Wire centers” are 

buildings typically owned or leased by the ILEC where, among other 
things, telephone wires are aggregated. Wire centers are connected to 
each other by wires called “transport”. CLECs (like Cbeyond) lease space 
(or “Collocate”) in wire centers in order to house equipment they use for 
interconnection or access to UNEs. Sometimes, CLECs choose not to 
collocate in every wire center. In those instances, the CLEC may use a 
combination of the wire from the wire center to the customer (“the loop”) in 
combination with the wire between the customer-serving wire center and 
the wire center where the CLEC is collocated (“transport”) to attach the 
CLEC network to the customer. 

 

7. Cbeyond has at times sought to rearrange the way its network is 
configured or “groom” its network. For instance, when there are a certain 
number of EELs from one wire center to another, Cbeyond has sought to 
aggregate the transport portion of the EELs into a single, larger capacity 
transport facility. In such instances, Cbeyond has requested that AT&T 
“rearrange” or “groom” the transport portion of a number of EELs. 

 
8. Once the “before network” reaches 16 customers served by 1.5 Mbps 

capacity loops (called a T1 or DS1) combined with the same sized 
transport, Cbeyond might seek to aggregate those 16 DS1 transport links 
into a single larger connection (e.g. a 45 Mbps or DS3) to create the “after 
network.” 
 

9. It is not uncommon for an EEL “rearrangement” (or grooming project) to 
involve Cbeyond disconnecting all the transport with AT&T and moving the 
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transport (here the 16 separate 1.5 Mbps transport facilities) to new 
transport facilities provided by a third party. 

 
10. The issue in this case is what charges apply under the parties‟ 

interconnection agreement (“ICA”) under the following two different 
scenarios: 

 
a. The first scenario (“Scenario 1”) is when Cbeyond wants to change 

the UDT portion of an existing EEL. In this scenario, Cbeyond 
wants AT&T to disconnect the UDT portion of an existing EEL, 
Cbeyond wants AT&T to install new UDT, and Cbeyond wants the 
new UDT connected to the unbundled DS1 Loops that were 
previously connected to the old UDT (or said another way, 
Cbeyond wants the existing, unbundled DS1 Loops that were 
connected to the old UDT to be connected to the new UDT). In this 
scenario, a new EEL is created. 

 
In Scenario 1, AT&T bills Cbeyond the nonrecurring (service 
ordering, disconnection and installation) charges for both parts of 
the EEL combination: the UDT (which Cbeyond does not dispute) 
and the Loop (which Cbeyond does dispute).  

 
b. The second scenario (“Scenario 2”) is when Cbeyond wants to 

remove the UDT portion of an existing EEL. In this scenario, 
Cbeyond wants AT&T to disconnect the UDT portion of an existing 
EEL and Cbeyond wants AT&T to connect the existing, unbundled 
DS1 Loop(s) to Connecting Facility Assignment(s) associated with 
facilities located in a collocation in the serving wire center. In this 
scenario, no new EEL is created; AT&T is instead providing a 
standalone DS1 Loop. 

 
In Scenario 2, AT&T bills Cbeyond the nonrecurring charges for 
both parts of the EEL: the service ordering and disconnection 
charges for the UDT portion (which Cbeyond does not dispute) and 
the service ordering, disconnection and installation charges for the 
Loop portion (which Cbeyond does dispute). 

 
c. In both of the above two scenarios, Cbeyond disputes AT&T Illinois‟ 

requirement that Cbeyond order the disconnection of the loop and 
the re-installation of the loop to change or remove the transport 
portion of the combination. Cbeyond contends that when the UDT 
portion of an EEL is changed, no loop service ordering, 
disconnection and installation charges contained in the ICA Pricing 
Schedule are appropriate and applicable. 
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d. In both of the above two scenarios, AT&T takes the position that, 
under the ICA, Cbeyond must pay the charges associated with 
disconnecting the existing EEL combination and connecting a new 
EEL combination or other UNE. 

 
11. Cbeyond asserts that the dispute must be analyzed in the context of the 

entire interconnection agreement and federal law. The portions of the ICA 
that Cbeyond believes are particularly relevant to this dispute are: 

 
a. Third Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 05-0844, 

Section 5, Section 6.0 (6.1 in particular) 
b. Article 9, Section 9.1 (Section 9.1.1 and 9.1.3 in particular), Section 

9.3 (9.3.1, 9.3.2.5, 9.3.3.1, 9.3.3.4 and 9.3.6 in particular) 
c. Attachment A Pricing Schedule (DS1 and DS3 Interoffice Transport 

particular). 
d. Section 9.2.1 (9.2.1.3.5 in particular) 
e. Section 9.2.7 (9.2.7. 7 in particular). 

 
Cbeyond reserves the right to rely on other portions of the parties' 
interconnection agreement and its amendments based on 
arguments made by AT&T. 

 
12. AT&T asserts that the dispute must be analyzed in the context of the 

entire interconnection agreement. Based on Cbeyond's allegations, AT&T 
believes that the following portions of the ICA are relevant to this dispute, 
but reserves the right to rely on any and all sections of the ICA: 
 
a. Sections 1.7.1.2 and 1.7.2 of the General Terms and Conditions 
b. Sections 9.3.3.1.1, 9.3.3.4, and 9.5.4 of the LINE Appendix 
c. First Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 05-0147 
d. Third Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 05-0844 
e. Fifth Amendment to the ICA, approved in Docket No. 07-0353. 

IV. Cbeyond’s Position 

Cbeyond summarizes its position as follows: Cbeyond is disputing charges for 
facilities it does not request and AT&T does not provide.  Specifically, there are two 
scenarios at issues here.  Both involve, at first, an EEL consisting of a UNE Loop and 
transport.  In the first example, the transport portion of the EEL is a DS1.  The problem 
arises when Cbeyond cancels the DS1 transport portion of the EEL and aggregates a 
bunch of DS1 transport UNEs into one DS3 transport UNE.  In this scenario, Cbeyond 
asserts that the UNE loop portion of the EEL does not change but AT&T charges for 
disconnecting and reconnecting the loop.  Cbeyond asserts that it should only be 
charged for changing the transport portion of the EEL and there should be no charge for 
the UNE loop because that remains unchanged. 
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The second scenario also starts with an EEL consisting of a UNE loop and 
transport.  Here, though, Cbeyond merely cancels the transport portion of the EEL 
because it intends to either go through another CLEC or self-provision the transport.  
Again, Cbeyond states that no charge should be assessed for the loop because it 
remains unchanged.  AT&T however charges for disconnecting and reconnecting the 
loop.  It is clear that to Cbeyond that the loop does not change because the orders it 
places say that the loops should not be disconnected, the circuit IDs do not change and 
also a note is included that there is no need to test the loop because it is not changing. 

Apparently for internal system reasons, AT&T requires Cbeyond to submit an 
order to disconnect the circuit with a note that says, “do not disconnect the loop.” 
Cbeyond does not order a new loop and AT&T does not provide a new loop. As the 
order says – AT&T does not disconnect the loop.  Indeed, the orders are clear: they say 
the loops (1) should not be disconnected; (2) have precisely the same loop circuit ID 
before and after the change; and (3) include a note on the Project Worksheet that there 
is no need to test the loop (because it is not changing). 

Cbeyond states that it is important to understand that the cross-connect between 
the loop and the transport is not the same thing as the loop itself. A cross-connect is 
several feet of wire connecting two pieces of equipment inside a wire center.  A cross-
connect takes a matter of minutes to put in place.  AT&T‟s position – as Cbeyond 
understands it – is that AT&T may charge a set of full loop disconnection and new loop 
installation charges for the installation of the cross-connect between the new transport 
and the existing loop. AT&T‟s apparent position is doubly-perplexing to Cbeyond 
because the cost of cross-connecting the new transport to the existing loop is fully 
recovered in the cost of the new transport. 

In the second scenario, Cbeyond simply disconnects the transport with AT&T, 
keeps the loop, and provides AT&T the Carrier Facility Assignment (“CFA”) for cross-
connecting the existing loop to the new third-party CLEC‟s collocation or Cbeyond‟s 
collocation. The third-party CLEC then provides Cbeyond the transport – essentially 
replacing the transport previously provided by AT&T -- or, where Cbeyond is collocated, 
Cbeyond carries the traffic to its own network without transport. Again, for apparently 
internal process reasons, AT&T insists that Cbeyond submit a disconnect order for the 
circuit with a notation to not disconnect the loop. AT&T then bills Cbeyond for an entirely 
new loop. There is, again, no new loop. AT&T simply disconnects the transport and 
cross-connects the existing old loops to the CLEC CFA identified by Cbeyond. The 
circuit ID of the loop does not change during the process; the disconnect order says to 
not disconnect the loop; and the Project Worksheet notes that there is no need to test 
the loop (because it is not new). 

Like the prior scenario, AT&T is fully compensated for the cross-connect to the 
third party CLEC or to Cbeyond in a monthly charge for that cross-connect. Cbeyond 
does not dispute the transport disconnection charges. Because a cross-connect is not a 
loop, and AT&T is compensated for the new cross-connect to the CLEC, AT&T‟s full set 
of loop disconnection and new loop installation charges is payment for nothing, or unjust 
enrichment.  By increasing the cost for access to alternative transport providers by more 
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than 1,600%, AT&T‟s unlawful charges also clearly constitute an impediment to the 
development of competition in the alternative transport market. 

Cbeyond notes that the Commission has addressed the requirements for EELs 
or other UNE combinations in several orders since 1996, including the Globalcom 
Order. See Globalcom, Inc. v. Illinois Bell Telephone Company (Ameritech Illinois), 
Docket 02-0365, Order, October 23, 2002 (“Globalcom Order”) (rev’d in part, 347 Ill. 
App. 3d 592 (1st Dist. 2004).  According to Cbeyond, the Globalcom Order has a well-
drafted and thorough history detailing the continuing efforts by Ameritech (now AT&T) to 
thwart competitors‟ use of EELS.  The Commission‟s findings in the Globalcom Order 
are highly instructive here.  In that case, Ameritech was accused of imposing 
unreasonable restraints on access to UNEs used in EEL combinations - both by 
imposing high termination charges when special access EELs were converted to UNE 
EELs and by imposing a requirement that CLECs be collocated in order to obtain 
access to EELs.  The Commission declared that both practices violated Section 13-514 
of the Act.   Although the Globalcom Order was reversed on the basis that Ameritech 
could charge early termination penalties for the conversion from special access to UNE 
EELs, Cbeyond opines that every one of the Commission findings on Ameritech‟s 
anticompetitive behavior was correct.  In the Triennial Review Order (“TRO”), Cbeyond 
states, the FCC came to precisely the same conclusion regarding the imposition of 
unsupported charges normally applied to new service when an existing EEL is 
converted.  See, TRO at ¶ 587. 

Cbeyond states that the law is plain: (1) an EEL is not a UNE - it is a combination 
of UNEs that must be made available where the individual UNEs are available; (2) they 
must be made available on just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory rates, terms and 
conditions; and (3) apart from some service eligibility criteria (not at issue here), AT&T 
may not impose any additional conditions or limitations upon obtaining access to the 
UNEs that make-up EELs and other UNE combinations.  Cbeyond asserts that the ICA 
has been amended to reflect governing federal and sate law.  

According to Cbeyond, a critical component of the requirements of federal law 
governing what AT&T may charge Cbeyond is 47 C.F.R. §51.507(e) of the FCC rules, 
which states that “[n]on-recurring charges shall ... not permit an incumbent LEC to 
recover more than the forward-looking economic cost of providing the applicable 
element.”  Cbeyond translates this to “AT&T cannot be unjustly enriched by its charges 
for access to UNEs.” Initial Brief at 13.   

Cbeyond notes that Section 13-514 of the PUA prohibits a carrier from impeding 
the development of competition in Illinois.  220 ILCS 5/13-514.  According the Cbeyond, 
EELs - and reasonable access to EELs - are a critical component of Illinois‟ competitive 
telecommunications marketplace.  Cbeyond cites the FCC in its TRO Order, in which 
the FCC concluded that based on record evidence “EELs facilitate the growth of 
facilities-based competition in the local market . . . Moreover, we find that access to 
EELs also promotes self deployment of interoffice transport facilities by competitive 
LECs because such carriers will eventually self-provision transport facilities to 
accommodate growing demand.  We further agree that the availability of EELs and 
other UNE combinations promotes innovation because competitive LECs can provide 
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advanced switching capabilities in conjunction with loop-transport combinations.” TRO 
at ¶576.  Cbeyond asserts that AT&T‟s actions in this case materially increase the cost 
to Cbeyond to maintain an economically and technically efficient network to serve its 
customers.  Those increased costs, Cbeyond avers, directly impact Cbeyond‟s ability to 
compete in Illinois.  AT&T‟s actions also materially increase the cost for CLECs like 
Cbeyond to convert to alternative transport offered by AT&T‟s competitors.  Cbeyond 
believes that AT&T‟s practices are contrary to the law. 

Cbeyond explains that EELs allow it to efficiently develop sufficient volume of 
transport to make use of competitive transport providers (or deploy transport itself). As 
the FCC recognized, EELs drive the availability of competition beyond the limited reach 
of the wire centers where CLECs are collocated and develop sufficient volume to 
encourage use of alternative transport or self-deployment of transport.  TRRO at ¶71.  
Cbeyond argues that the availability of EELs and the ready economic conversion of the 
transport portion of EELs benefits competition.  Thus, Cbeyond maintains that 
increasing the cost (like AT&T is accused of here) to convert EELs to competitive 
transport harms competition.  

Cbeyond opines that because AT&T has unreasonably acted in a manner that 
has had a substantial adverse effect on the ability of other carriers to provide transport 
services to Cbeyond, it has per se violated Section 13-514(6) of the PUA.  220 ILCS 
5/13-514(6).  Cbeyond states that it is “critical that the Commission force AT&T to stop 
its anticompetitive behavior and censure AT&T to punish it for the damage it has 
inflicted on Illinois telecommunications marketplace as well as to dissuade AT&T from 
engaging in similar behavior in the future.”  Cbeyond Initial Brief at 16. 

With respect to its interconnection agreement (“ICA”), Cbeyond relies on the 
following provision for support: 

SBC shall not impose any additional conditions or limitations upon 
obtaining access to EELs or to any other UNE combination other than 
those set out in this Agreement. 

TRO/TRRO Attachment at Section 6.1.  According to Cbeyond, the ICA makes no 
mention of a requirement of repaying for an existing loop when Cbeyond wants to 
change the transport associated with it.  Yet, Cbeyond asserts that AT&T is imposing 
that very condition in order for Cbeyond to obtain a new transport portion for an existing 
EEL. 

Cbeyond also relies on this portion of the ICA: 

SBC shall provide access to Section 251 UNEs and combinations of 
Section 251 UNEs without regard to whether CLEC seeks access to the 
UNEs to establish a new circuit or to convert an existing circuit from a 
service to UNEs provided the rates, terms and conditions under which 
such Section 251 UNEs are to be provided are included within the CLEC‟s 
underlying Agreement. 

TRO/TRRO Attachment at Section 6.1.  Cbeyond states that here it seeks access to 
Unbundled Dedicated Transport, which is a UNE available under the ICA‟s rates, terms 
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and conditions. Cbeyond also points out that the ICA states that AT&T must provide 
non-discriminatory access to Unbundled Dedicated Transport in accordance with 47 
C.F.R. 51.319(e)(2). TRO/TRRO Attachment at Section 3.1.4 (DS1 Transport) and 3.1.5 
(DS3 Transport). 

Cbeyond notes that 47 C.F.R. §51.319 requires, in relevant part, that an 
“incumbent LEC shall provide a requesting telecommunications carrier with 
nondiscriminatory access to dedicated transport on an unbundled basis, in accordance 
with section 251(c)(3) of the Act and this part . . .” 47 U.S.C. 251(c)(3) requires access 
to UNEs “at any technically feasible point on rates, terms, and conditions that are just, 
reasonable and nondiscriminatory in accordance with the terms of the agreement and 
the requirements of this section and section 252.”  Section 252 requires, among other 
things, TELRIC pricing for access to UNEs.  47 U.S.C. §252(d).  Cbeyond wishes to 
combine UNE transport with existing loops in a technically feasible manner.  That 
connection, according to Cbeyond, is included in the charge for the new UNE transport.  
Cbeyond argues, that by imposing charges that increase the cost to access to UNE 
transport multifold, AT&T is not providing access to that UNE on just and reasonable 
terms.  Cbeyond opines that AT&T‟s imposition of significant new loop charges in 
connection with Cbeyond‟s request for new transport violates AT&T‟s obligation under 
the ICA (and the law it incorporates) to provide access to UNE transport at reasonable 
terms and at TELRIC rates.   

Cbeyond also argues that the ICA specifically identifies the limits AT&T may 
place on Cbeyond‟s access to EELs.  Cbeyond quotes the TRO/TRRO Attachment, 
which states: “[o]ther than the eligibility Criteria set forth in this Section, SBC shall not 
impose limitations, restrictions, or requirements on requests for the use of UNEs for the 
service CLEC seeks to offer.” TRO/TRRO Attachment at Section 6.5. Cbeyond states 
that there is no issue in this case with Cbeyond‟s adherence to EEL eligibility criteria.  
Cbeyond states that AT&T is imposing significant requirements on Cbeyond‟s request 
for that UNE - thousands of dollars in new UNE loop installation charges.  According to 
Cbeyond, those additional requirements directly and materially violate the 
Interconnection Agreement.  Cbeyond notes that the FCC determined that charges such 
as those at issue here “could deter legitimate conversions from wholesale services to 
UNEs or UNE combinations, or could unjustly enrich an incumbent LEC as a result of 
converting a UNE or UNE combination to a wholesale service.”  TRO at ¶587. 

Cbeyond maintains that because AT&T has violated its Interconnection 
Agreement with Cbeyond, and it has unreasonably acted in a manner that increases the 
cost, and impedes the availability of telecommunications services to consumers, it has 
per se violated Section 13-514(8) of the PUA, 220 ILCS 5/13-514(8).  Further, Cbeyond 
maintains that AT&T has unreasonably failed to offer network elements that the 
Commission and the FCC have determined must be offered on an unbundled basis in a 
manner consistent with the Commission‟s and Federal Communications Commission‟s 
orders and rules requiring such offerings.  As a consequence, Cbeyond asserts that 
AT&T has violated Section 13-514(10) of the Act per se. 220 ILCS 5/13-514(10). 

Moreover, Cbeyond argues that by imposing nonrecurring charges that have not 
been authorized under the Commission‟s Order in Docket 02-0864, AT&T has violated 
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an order of the Commission regarding matters between telecommunications carrier, in 
per se violation of Section 13-514(12) of the Act.  220 ILCS 5/13-514(12).  Finally, by 
committing the alleged violations of the Interconnection Agreement and Section 13-801, 
AT&T has unreasonably violated its obligations imposed by Section 13-801.  This 
conduct, according to Cbeyond, is a per se violation of Section 13-514(11) of the PUA.  
220 ILCS 5/13-514(11).  

V. AT&T’s Position 

According to AT&T, Cbeyond and AT&T are parties to an interconnection 
agreement that was approved by this Commission in 2004 and subsequently amended 
multiple times.  The ICA sets forth the unbundled network elements that AT&T has 
agreed to provide Cbeyond, as well as the rates for those UNEs.  One of the UNEs that 
AT&T provides pursuant to the ICA is the DS1 loop/DS1 transport Enhanced Extended 
Link (“EEL”) or DS1/DS1 EEL.  Since at least early 2006, Cbeyond has purchased 
DS1/DS1 EELs from AT&T.  From time to time, Cbeyond has decided to make changes 
to its network and change its DS1/DS1 EELs to either DS1/DS3 EELs or to stand-alone 
unbundled DS1 loops connected to third-party transport.   

AT&T asserts that in order to effectuate what Cbeyond requests, it must first 
remove the existing DS1/DS1 EEL by disconnecting the DS1 loop from the DS1 
transport.  Then, it must establish a new servicing arrangement using a DS1 loop, either 
in combination with DS3 transport (a DS1/DS3 EEL combination) or as a stand-alone 
unbundled DS1 loop (where transport is provided by a third party).  After completing this 
work, AT&T has billed Cbeyond the nonrecurring charges set forth in the ICA for the 
requested services.  Those nonrecurring charges were calculated according to the 
pricing parameters established in Docket 02-0864. 

It is AT&T‟s position that the parties‟ ICA is the exclusive and binding statement 
of the parties‟ respective rights and obligations pursuant to TA96.  Pursuant to federal 
law, “the authority granted to state regulatory commissions is confined to the role 
described in § 252 [of the 1996 Act] - that of arbitrating, approving, and enforcing 
interconnection agreements.”  Pacific Bell v. Pac West Telecomm, Inc., 325 F.3d 1114, 
1126 (9th Cir. 2003).  Also, AT&T argues that, once approved, the ICA is the exclusive 
statement of the parties‟ rights and obligations - and federal and state law operating of 
their own force are irrelevant.  See, e.g., Goldwasser v. Ameritech Corp., No. 97 C 
6788, 1998 WL 60878, at *11 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 4, 1998). 

Accordingly, in this complaint proceeding, AT&T posits that the Commission‟s 
sole role is to interpret and enforce the ICA, using state law principles of contract 
interpretation.  AT&T asserts that “this Commission cannot take action” that will 
“effectively change[] the terms of [the] interconnection agreement[].” because that would 
“contravene[] the Act‟s mandate that interconnection agreements have the binding force 
of law.” Pac West Telecomm, 325 F. 3d at 1127.  Thus, AT&T concludes that state law 
is simply not applicable to the Commission‟s decision in this case, except to the extent 
that it provides the general principles of contract law used to interpret the ICA.  To the 
extent that Cbeyond claims that state law imposes obligations on AT&T above and 
beyond, or even contrary to, what the parties agreed to in their ICA, the state law is 
preempted.  See, e.g., Wisconsin Bell v. Bie, 340 F. 3d 441, 444 (7th Cir. 2003).  
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With respect to the parties‟ ICA, AT&T asserts that Cbeyond cannot point to any 
provision in the ICA that AT&T has violated. AT&T states that Cbeyond cannot point to 
any provision in the ICA that supports Cbeyond‟s theory that it only has to pay a cross-
connection rearrangement charge, or something other than the connection and 
disconnection charges set forth in the ICA and billed by AT&T.   

According to AT&T, the parties‟ ICA permits Cbeyond to order UNEs as well as 
certain pre-established UNE combinations.  When Cbeyond orders a UNE or 
combination, there are non-recurring charges set forth in the ICA that Cbeyond must 
pay in order to connect the requested product or service.  Cbeyond also pays monthly 
recurring charges so long as it is obtaining the product or service from AT&T.  When 
Cbeyond no longer desires the UNE or UNE combination it ordered, it pays non-
recurring disconnection charges, as set forth in the ICA.  

Under the ICA, there is only one way to effectuate the “rearrangement” that 
Cbeyond wants.  First, the existing DS1/DS1 EEL must be disconnected.  Second, the 
product that Cbeyond desires must be connected.  Cbeyond asserts that because it 
only wants to order a “rearrangement” of its DS1/DS1 EELs or “to reassign cross-
connections”, it should be charged no more than a “cross-connect” charge.  AT&T 
states, however, that the ICA does not provide for a “rearrangement” from one EEL 
combination to another EEL combination (or to another UNE) and Cbeyond does not 
point to any provision in the ICA.  In fact, AT&T notes that, in Cbeyond‟s Response to 
AT&T‟s Motion to Dismiss, Cbeyond stated, “no provision of the parties‟ interconnection 
agreement contemplates mere cross connection re-assignments.”  Cbeyond Response 
at 12.  AT&T avers that this admission of Cbeyond dooms its case.  Similarly, AT&T 
points out that, in the Complaint, Cbeyond proposed to “amend the parties‟ 
Interconnection Agreement to create a non-recurring rate, equal to the ICC‟s previously 
determined Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost ("TELRIC") incurred by Illinois 
bell to disconnect a cross-connect.” Complaint ¶57. According to AT&T, there is an 
irreconcilable inconsistency between Cbeyond‟s admission that the ICA needs to be 
amended to provide for the “rearrangement” service Cbeyond demands and any claim 
that the ICA has all along required AT&T to provide such rearrangements in the manner 
and at the price Cbeyond desires. 

With respect to the specific ICA provisions cited by Cbeyond, AT&T asserts that 
there is no evidence that AT&T has done anything contrary to the contract provisions.  
First, Cbeyond points to Section 9.1.3 of the parties‟ ICA.  AT&T states that Section 
9.1.3 addresses Cbeyond‟s right to purchase UNEs separately or in combination.  It 
says nothing about changes from existing UNEs or UNE combinations to new UNEs or 
UNE combinations.  This section does not say that “rearrangement” is a service or 
product under the ICA or give Cbeyond a right to demand that AT&T “rearrange” one 
UNE combination to form another, different UNE combination.  Nor does it say that 
Cbeyond is free to disconnect part of a UNE combination and use only that part to 
connect to a new form of transport.   

The next provision cited by Cbeyond is Section 9.1.1. According to AT&T, 
Cbeyond asserts that this Section is violated because the charges are contrary to the 
TRO.  The problem is that the TRO/TRRO amendment states that the TRO/TRRO 



10-0188 

12 

 

amendment “gives contractual effect to the effective portions of the TRO . . .”  The 
parties further agreed that, to the extent there was a conflict between the TRO/TRRO 
Amendment and the original ICA (which includes Section 9.1.1), the TRO/TRRO 
Amendment trumps the original ICA.  Thus, AT&T concludes that Section 9.1.1 cannot 
be read to impose any obligations on AT&T beyond those agreed to in the TRO/TRRO 
Amendment. 

Similarly, Section 5.2 does not support Cbeyond‟s breach of ICA claim.  Section 
5.2 requires AT&T to “connect an existing loop UNE provisioned to Cbeyond with 
alternative transport „obtained at wholesale from SBC . . . or third parties.”  But, 
Cbeyond is not simply requesting that AT&T connect a UNE loop with transport.  
Cbeyond is asking for a “rearrangement” of an existing UNE combination to form a new, 
different UNE or UNE combination.   

Next, Cbeyond relies on Section 5.3 of the TRO/TRRO amendment for support.  
AT&T notes that Cbeyond asserts that Section 5.3 requires AT&T to “connect loops [or 
an EEL] leased or owned by CLEC to a third-party‟s collocation arrangement. . .” AT&T 
avers that the problem is that this section says nothing about how existing combinations 
are to be treated.   

AT&T reiterates that Cbeyond must disconnect the existing EEL and order a new 
serving arrangement using a DS1 loop.  This is the process required by Section 9.3.3.4 
of the ICA‟s UNE, and the process Cbeyond has followed for the last four years.  AT&T 
notes that the ICA allows Cbeyond to order “new UNE combinations” via “appropriate 
service requests” pursuant to Section 9.3.3.4 of the UNE Appendix.   

AT&T notes that Cbeyond has had multiple opportunities to try to obtain an ICA 
with AT&T that has the “rearrangement” service Cbeyond wished it had. But rather than 
availing itself of those opportunities, it chose in 2004 to opt into an agreement that was 
negotiated by another carrier.  When that ICA expired, it chose to extend the term of 
that ICA for another three years.  The current ICA expired in February 2010 and the 
parties have not commenced negotiations for a new ICA, which could include 
negotiations for the rearrangement service.  

VI. Staff’s Position 

According to Staff, the scope of the dispute with respect to non-recurring charges 
for the two rearrangement scenarios are narrower than stated in the Joint Stipulation.  
First, unlike other loop/transport combinations, there are no loop or transport 
nonrecurring rates for DS1/DS1 EELS under the ICA.  The service ordering and 
provisioning charges associated with a DS1/DS1 EEL apply to the DS1/DS1 EEL as a 
whole, not individually to the loop or transport of the DS1/DS1 EEL.  In particular, the 
service ordering and provisioning disconnection charges associated with the 
disconnection of a DS1/DS1 EEL apply to the DS1/DS1 EEL as a whole.  Thus, Staff 
argues, the dispute with respect to loop service ordering and provisioning disconnection 
charges associated with the disconnection of DS1/DS1 EELs as stated in the Joint 
Stipulation are essentially disputes regarding charges that are not found in the ICA and 
should thus be removed from the list of disputed rates. 
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Staff also notes that Cbeyond submitted 4,630 dispute billing records with its 
Formal Complaint, which it claims to be the loop nonrecurring charges associated with 
EEL rearrangements.  Staff states, however, that none of the 4,630 billing records are 
loop service ordering charges.  This suggests to Staff that AT&T did not bill Cbeyond 
any loop service ordering charges for EEL rearrangements.   

It is Staff‟s opinion that the ICA does not provide for EEL rearrangement and, in 
particular, it does not contain explicit rates, terms and conditions covering EEL 
rearrangements.  Staff recommends that Cbeyond‟s complaint be denied to the extent 
that it seeks reimbursements of loop nonrecurring charges that AT&T billed it for EEL 
rearrangements performed using the two-step process.   

It is also Staff‟s opinion that AT&T has not always billed Cbeyond in a manner 
consistent with the ICA for EEL rearrangements performed using the two-step process. 
As such, Staff recommends that AT&T be required to reimburse or credit Cbeyond 
charges that were not billed in accordance with the ICA for EEL rearrangements 
performed using the two-step method. 

A. Response to AT&T 

With respect to AT&T‟s argument that state law inappropriately intrudes upon the 
federal scheme under TA96 and is thus preempted, Staff opines that the Commission 
lacks the authority to invalidate a statute on constitutional grounds or to question its 
validity.  Staff asserts that AT&T can petition the Federal Communications Commission 
(“FCC”) to preempt sections of state law that it believes are preempted by federal law. 

Moreover, Staff notes that Wisconsin Bell, Inc. v. Bie, 340 F. 3d 441 (7th Cir. 
2003) (“Bie”) is the leading case in this line of federal court decisions.  Bie, according to 
Staff, however, does not stand for the proposition that all tariff provisions addressing 
interconnection, UNEs and resale are prohibited by TA96.  Rather, Bie holds that tariff 
provisions that are inconsistent with TA96, to the extent that they require an ILEC to 
offer an alternative means of obtaining interconnection rights without an interconnection 
agreement and essentially create a „parallel proceeding‟ that bypasses the federal 
scheme, are barred. 

Staff agrees with AT&T that the ICA does not provide for the rearrangement of 
existing EELS.  The ICA contains no explicit rates, terms and conditions to govern EEL 
rearrangements.  In particular, Staff notes that Article 9 of the ICA, “Access to 
Unbundled Network Elements”, contains no specific terms and conditions for EEL 
rearrangements.  Similarly, the Pricing Schedule of the parties‟ ICA contains no rates 
applicable to EEL rearrangements.   

The ICA does provide, Staff notes, for disconnection of DS1/DS1 EELs, 
connection of DS1/DS3 EELs and connection of stand-alone DS1 loops.  So, while the 
ICA does not provide for EEL rearrangements, they can be accomplished using a two 
step process: (i) disconnection of the DS1/DS1 EELs and (ii) connection of DS1/DS3 
EELs or stand-alone DS1 loops.  Staff opines that this two-step process was not 
established, and thus is not best suited, for EEL rearrangements; nonetheless, it 
appears to Staff to be the only method for EEL rearrangements under the explicit rates, 
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terms and conditions of the ICA.  Thus, AT&T would not be in violation of the ICA if it 
billed Cbeyond for EEL rearrangements in accordance with this two-step process.  

Moreover, Staff argues that that the efficiency of the two-step process for EEL 
rearrangements is outside the scope of this proceeding.  The pertinent issue in this case 
is not whether the ICA should have included provisions for EEL rearrangement, but 
whether the ICA does in fact contain such specific rates, terms and conditions, or 
whether the two-step process is the only method under the ICA for EEL 
rearrangements.   

Although Staff agrees that the two-step process is the only method under the ICA 
for EEL rearrangements, this does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that AT&T has 
complied with the ICA.  To determine this, Staff believes it is also necessary to examine 
the charges that AT&T has billed Cbeyond, and then determine whether these charges 
are billed in accordance with the two-step method for EEL rearrangements, a matter 
about which neither party has made much effort to adduce evidence. 

Staff‟s attempt at determining whether AT&T has complied with ICA was 
complicated by the fact that the complete billing records have not been made of record 
in this proceeding.   In Exhibit A to the Formal Complaint, Cbeyond submits 4,630 billing 
records, which it claims to be loop non-recurring charges associated with EEL 
rearrangements.  It did not, however, provide the complete billing records associated 
with these supposed EEL rearrangements, i.e., billing records for the disconnection of 
DS1/DS1 EELs as well as billing records for the connection of DS1/DS3 EELs or stand-
alone DS1 loops.  Without the complete billing records, it is not possible to determine 
whether any or all charges in Exhibit A are loop nonrecurring charges associated with 
EEL rearrangements.    

Staff states that the available billing records do not reflect the two-step process 
and identifies billing problems in five areas.  The first problem area involves 746 billing 
records, each of which has a bill date of January 19, 2006, February 19, 2006 or March 
19, 2006 and are the loop connection nonrecurring charges associated with DS1/DS1 to 
DS1/DS3 rearrangements.  Based on Staff‟s reading of the ICA‟s pricing schedule, 
these loop connection charges should be either $248.22 (for initial) or $135.15 (for 
additional).  However, the charges in this group of billing records are $200.75, $135.15, 
or $200.75/$135.15, respectively.  Some loop circuits were each assessed one loop 
connection charge and other loops circuits were each assessed two loop connection 
charges.  Evidently, Staff posits, something is amiss because the charges do not mirror 
the loop connection charges that should be charged using the two-step process. 

The second problem area involves 433 loop circuits, all of which have a circuit ID 
beginning with “HCFD” and are supposedly the DS1 loops of a rearranged DS1/DS3 
EEL.  Apparently AT&T assessed both a connection and a disconnection charge for 
these loops and then credited both the connection and disconnection charge for some 
of them, but did not give any credits on others.  Staff asserts that it is inconsistent with 
its position in this case for AT&T to have credited both the connection and 
disconnection charges on these loops.  Staff also believes AT&T should credit Cbeyond 
for the incorrect disconnection charges on the other loops. 
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Problem area 3 involves four loop circuits that are the rearranged stand-alone 
DS1 loops.  These loops were assessed both a connection and disconnection charge.  
Staff asserts that the disconnection charge was improper and that Cbeyond should be 
credited.   

The fourth problem area involves 480 DS1 loops or rearranged DS1/DS3 EELs.  
On 413 of the 480 loops AT&T reimbursed Cbeyond for the connection charges.  Staff 
thinks that the connection charge was proper and Staff seeks an explanation for why 
the apparently proper charge was reimbursed for 413 loops, but not the remaining 
loops. 

Problem area 5 involves 1,137 loop circuits which are the DS1 loops of 
rearranged DS1/DS3 EELs.  Two charges were assessed on these loops: the loop 
connection charge and one for Clear Channel Capability (“CCC”).  Apparently some of 
the loop connection charges were reimbursed, without explanation.  Also, Staff asserts 
that CCC should not have been billed on any DS1 loops because it is an optional 
service that is applicable to DS1 interoffice transport only. 

B. Response to Cbeyond 

Staff sees Cbeyond to contend that the parties‟ ICA requires AT&T to provide 
EEL rearrangements and that AT&T‟s two-step method is not a least-cost method for 
EEL rearrangements and thus is in violation of the ICA.  Staff does not agree.  While the 
ICA provides for disconnection of existing EELs and connection of new EELs, Staff 
agrees with AT&T that the ICA does not explicitly provide for EEL rearrangements.   

Staff asserts that Cbeyond elects not to confirm or deny that the ICA provides for 
EEL rearrangements, but takes the position that the ICA requires AT&T to rearrange 
UNE transport, as if it were a stand-alone UNE even when provided as part of an EEL.  
Staff states that the ICA explicitly provides for these circumstances and includes a 
specific charge for when a DS1/DS1 EEL is disconnected as it clearly is when either 
“rearrangement” is performed.  Cbeyond is seeking to not have the DS1/DS1 EEL 
disconnection apply, but rather have some unspecified other rearrangement charge 
applied when the DS1/DS1 EEL is disconnected. 

According to Staff, Cbeyond may be correct that AT&T‟s two-step method is not 
the least cost or most efficient method for EEL rearrangements.  However, Staff notes, 
insofar as AT&T does not use, or bill Cbeyond in accordance with, a least cost method 
for EEL rearrangements, it is not due to AT&T violating the ICA or the least cost 
principal but due to the ICA not providing for such a least cost method for EEL 
rearrangements.   

In response to Cbeyond‟s claim that its rearrangements do not require 
disconnection or connection of DS1 loops and that it should, therefore, not be charged 
for work done to the loop, Staff states that Cbeyond‟s claim is based on its 
mischaracterization of UNEs and UNE combinations and its misinterpretation of the 
ICA.  Staff sees Cbeyond to characterize EELs as being composed of three UNEs: 1) 
the loop, 2) the cross connection and 3) the transport.  Staff avers, however, that cross-
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connections are not a UNE and notes that if they were, the ICA would contain individual 
prices for them and not just as part of the nonrecurring rates for other elements. 

The mischaracterization of cross-connections as a UNE also mischaracterizes 
the UNE DS1 loop.  By Cbeyond‟s description, a UNE DS1 loop terminates at the 
customer‟s premises at one end and on the Main Distribution Frame (“MDF”) at AT&T‟s 
wire center at the other end.  Staff states that this is incorrect and inconsistent with the 
Joint Stipulation.  Staff notes that the charts in the Joint Stipulation clearly indicate that 
a DS1 loop terminates at the customer‟s premises at one end and on a DS1 Digital 
Cross-Connect (“DSX-1”) panel at the AT&T wire center at the other end.  Staff states 
that, from the four charts in the Joint Stipulation, the DS1 cross connects between the 
MDF and DSX-1 panels at the wire center where DS1 loops terminate are included as 
part of the DS1 loops, regardless of whether the loops are stand-alone DS1 loops or the 
DS1 loops of EELs.  Accordingly, Staff argues, the connection of a DS1 loop involves 
the connection of the cross connects between the MDF and the DSX-1.  The 
disconnection of the cross connects between the MDF and DSX-1 would disconnect the 
DS1 loops.  Thus, the disconnection of cross connects would disconnect the DS1 loops 
of the DS1/DS1 EELs and the connection of new cross connects would be required for 
the connection of stand-alone DS1 loops or the DS1 loops of DS1/DS3 EELs.  As a 
result, and contrary to Cbeyond‟s claim, Staff states that the EEL rearrangements would 
require disconnection as well as connection of the DS1 loops.  

According to Staff, Cbeyond also mischaracterizes multiplexed DS3 dedicated 
transport as an UNE.  Staff clarifies that DS1/DS3 multiplexes are included with the 
DS1/DS3 EEL, but that the DS3 interoffice dedicated transport UNE does not include 
any DS/DS3 multiplexes. 

Staff also explains that under the ICA, AT&T is required to provide UNEs and 
UNE combinations, but not rearrangements of UNE combinations.  Cbeyond also has 
the option to purchase UNEs individually.  In particular, it may purchase individually 
DS1 loop, DS1 UDT and a DS3 UDT.  It may also purchase UNEs in combination.  In 
particular, it may purchase a DS1 loop in combination with a DS1 UDT (DS1/DS1 EEL) 
and DS1 loops in combination with a DS3 UDT (DS1/DS3 EEL).  The five UNEs and 
UNE combination represent five different offerings under the ICA. 

Moreover, Staff explains that if Cbeyond previously purchased DS1 loops and 
DS1 UDTs individually and now wished to replace the DS1 UDTs with a DS3 UDT, it 
could simply request disconnection of the DS1 UDTs and connection of the DS3 UDT.  
This would indeed involve disconnection and connection of one thing - transport.  
Similarly, if it wished to remove the DS1 UDTs, it can simply request disconnection of 
the DS1 UDTs.  This again would involve disconnection of the one thing - transport.  
However, Cbeyond did not purchase unbundled DS1 loop and DS1 UDTs individually.  
Instead it purchased them in combination at the prices applicable to the DS1 loop/DS1 
UDT combination.  Under the ICA, Cbeyond may not take the EELs apart and request 
partial disconnection of the DS1/DS1 EELs.  Cbeyond is attempting to treat DS1 loops 
and DS1 UDTs as stand-alone UNEs even when provided as part of a DS1/DS1 EEL.  
Staff also notes that the rates and rate structures for the connection of DS1 loops and 
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DS1 UDTs purchased individually are not identical to the rates and rate structures for 
the connection of DS1/DS1 EELS.   

Staff also addresses Cbeyond‟s statement that CCC charges should never apply 
to DS1 circuits.  Staff does not agree and explains that whether CCC charges should 
apply depends on when the DS1 service is first established on the circuits, not when 
Cbeyond first ordered the circuit.  Accordingly, CCC charges are appropriate in some 
instances.  

Staff analyzed the billing records provided by Cbeyond with the Complaint. Staff 
notes that Cbeyond requests that the Commission order AT&T to reimburse Cbeyond 
the disputed loop nonrecurring charges included in Exhibit A to the Complaint.  Staff, 
however, states that Cbeyond has made no effort to demonstrate that all the billing 
records in Exhibit A are loop nonrecurring charges associated with EELs.  Indeed, Staff 
contends that upon further analysis it does not believe that all the charges in Exhibit A 
are loop nonrecurring charges associated with EEL rearrangements.  Thus, Staff 
asserts that if the Commission finds that the parties‟ ICA support Cbeyond‟s claim 
(contrary to Staff‟s recommendation) it should only grant Cbeyond‟s request for 
reimbursement for billing records that Cbeyond has demonstrated to be loop 
nonrecurring charges that AT&T billed it for EEL rearrangements. 

VII. AT&T Reply Brief 

A. Response to Cbeyond 

AT&T, in its Reply Brief, notes that Cbeyond has continuously changed which 
sections of the ICA that it is relying on.  Regardless, AT&T reiterates that the ICA does 
not provide for any other way to get from a DS1/DS1 EEL to a DS1/DS3 EEL or from a 
DS1/DS1 EEL to a stand-alone DS1 loop other than the “two-step process” followed by 
AT&T.  Further AT&T asserts that it must perform substantial work on both the loop and 
transport portions of the EEL when it fulfills Cbeyond‟s requests.   

AT&T details the shifting nature of Cbeyond‟s complaint and the inability of 
Cbeyond to figure out a contractual basis for its complaint, and notes that Staff was 
similarly unable to identify a single provision in the parties‟ ICA that supports Cbeyond‟s 
Complaint. 

The first provision in the ICA that Cbeyond points to in its brief is section 6.1 of 
the TRO/TRRO Amendment.  That provision provides that “SBC shall not impose any 
additional conditions or limitations upon obtaining access to EELs or to any other UNE 
combination other than those set out in this Agreement.”  Cbeyond, does not, according 
AT&T, address what supposed conditions or limitations AT&T has imposed on Cbeyond 
with respect to obtaining access to EELs or any other UNE combination, other than to 
say that AT&T has charged Cbeyond to disconnect the original facility and install the 
new one.  This case is a dispute about price and nothing else. 

Section 6.1 also provides that “SBC shall provide access to Section 251 UNEs 
and combinations of Section 251 UNEs without regard to whether a CLEC seeks 
access to the UNEs to establish a new circuit or to convert an existing circuit from a 
service to UNEs, provided the rates, terms and conditions under which such Section 
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251 UNEs are to be provided are included within the CLEC‟s underlying Agreement.”  
AT&T notes that Cbeyond suggests that it has been denied “nondiscriminatory access” 
to UDT, but AT&T avers that Cbeyond did not order UDT.  Cbeyond originally ordered 
DS1/DS1 EELs, then asked AT&T to disconnect them and replace them with DS1/DS3 
EELs or stand-alone DS1 loops.  In any event, AT&T states that even if Cbeyond had 
ordered UDT, it has not come forward with any evidence that AT&T somehow has 
denied it nondiscriminatory access to UDT.  

AT&T also argues that Cbeyond mischaracterizes the TRO/TRRO Amendment 
and TRO and TRRO decisions by the FCC.  According to AT&T, the TRO and TRRO 
decisions and the TRO/TRRO Amendment all make reference to “converting” existing 
circuits, but they are all addressing the conversion of “wholesale services (e.g., special 
access services offered pursuant to interstate tariff) to UNEs or UNE combinations and 
the reverse.” TRO at ¶ 587.  AT&T states that the TRO and TRRO decisions, and the 
TRO/TRRO Amendment, do not address changing from one UNE or UNE combination 
to another UNE or UNE combination, which is what is at issue here. 

AT&T argues that Cbeyond‟s reliance on a portion of Section 6.5 of the 
TRO/TRRO Amendment also is misplaced. Cbeyond quotes the following language 
from Section 6.5: “Other than the Eligibility Criteria set forth in this Section, SBC shall 
not impose limitations, restrictions, or requirements on requests for the use of UNEs for 
the service a CLEC seeks to offer.” According to AT&T, the TRO/TRRO Amendment 
was intended to give effect to the TRO and TRRO decisions. Those decisions set forth 
“Eligibility Criteria” governing the circumstances under which an ILEC had to unbundle 
certain UNEs. The excerpt cited by Cbeyond merely states that, other than those 
specific eligibility criteria, AT&T may not impose “limitations, restrictions, or 
requirements on the use of UNEs.” That excerpt is not applicable to the facts of this 
case, which has nothing to do with conversions pursuant to the TRO and TRRO 
decisions. Moreover, Cbeyond has not identified any “limitations” or “restrictions” that 
AT&T allegedly imposed on Cbeyond‟s use of UNEs other than the requirement to pay 
the charges set forth in the ICA for disconnecting one facility and installing a new one.  

Cbeyond next points to Sections 9.1.1 and 9.1.2 of the parties‟ original ICA.  
AT&T notes that Cbeyond merely points to Section 9.1.1, with no further explanation.  
Section 9.1.2 is a section not previously relied on by Cbeyond and also with no further 
explanation.  This section also deals with not imposing restrictions on access to UNEs 
and AT&T argues that charging the prices contained in the ICA is not a restriction. 

AT&T notes three more new provisions relied on by Cbeyond for the first time in 
its Initial Brief: 3.1.2, 3.1.4 and 3.1.5 of the TRO/TRRO Amendment.  These sections 
require AT&T to provide access to DS1 loops and DS1 and DS3 transport when the 
eligibility criteria set forth in the FCC‟s TRO decision are met.  AT&T argues that these 
provisions are not relevant because stand-alone DS1 and DS3 transport are not among 
the facilities that are at issue in this proceeding. 

Finally, Cbeyond makes reference to three other ICA provisions in support of its 
claims, but only in the Darnell Affidavit and not in its brief. Thus, it is not clear to AT&T 
whether Cbeyond is relying on these provisions. Whatever the case, none of these 
provisions helps Cbeyond either. The first of these – Article 1, Section 1.55.1 – is cited 
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at paragraph 35 of the Darnell Affidavit. It is just another provision saying AT&T will 
provide UNEs on a just, reasonable and nondiscriminatory basis. As discussed above, 
the evidence does not support any claim that AT&T has violated its obligation to provide 
UNEs in a just, reasonable and non-discriminatory manner. The second provision cited 
by Mr. Darnell is Section 12.1 of the TRO/TRRO Amendment. Darnell Aff. ¶ 43. Like 
Sections 6.1 and 6.5 of the same amendment, Section 12.1 provides that AT&T shall 
not impose “limitations, restrictions, or requirements” on requests for, or use of, UNEs, 
except as set forth in the ICA. For the same reasons as addressed above with respect 
to Sections 6.1 and 6.5, Cbeyond‟s reliance on Section 12.1 is misplaced. 

The last provision cited by Mr. Darnell, but not in Cbeyond‟s brief, is Section 
9.1.3 of the ICA. Darnell Aff. ¶ 44. It is not at all evident to AT&T why Cbeyond does not 
mention this section in its brief, because its own witness says Section 9.1.3 is “directly 
relevant” to this billing dispute (id.) and Cbeyond specifically identified it in the 
stipulation as a provision in the ICA that Cbeyond thought was “particularly relevant” to 
this proceeding. Jt. Stip. ¶ 11.b. AT&T discussed this provision in detail in its initial brief 
(at pages 12-14) and Mr. Darnell does not present anything to rebut AT&T‟s arguments. 
Instead, AT&T asserts that Mr. Darnell mischaracterizes what it is that Cbeyond has 
ordered, by suggesting that Cbeyond has requested the disconnection of UDT. Darnell 
Aff. ¶ 44. AT&T clarifies that is not what Cbeyond ordered in the first place, and not 
what Cbeyond sought to disconnect. Rather, Cbeyond ordered DS1/DS1 EELs, which 
are UNE combinations and different from UDT.  DS1/DS1 EELs are what AT&T 
provided to Cbeyond, and all that Cbeyond could ask to disconnect.  When Cbeyond 
performed its grooming projects, it did not ask AT&T to connect UDT. It asked for and 
received either a DS1/DS3 EEL (a new EEL) or a stand-alone DS1 loop.  

AT&T argues that there is no evidence that it has done anything contrary to 
Section 9.1.3. Section 9.1.3 simply addresses Cbeyond‟s right to purchase UNEs 
separately or in combination and says nothing about changes from existing UNEs or 
UNE combinations to new UNEs or UNE combinations, which is the subject of this 
dispute. That section does not say that “rearrangement” is a service or product under 
the ICA or give Cbeyond a right to demand that AT&T “rearrange” one UNE 
combination to form another, different UNE combination. Nor does it say that Cbeyond 
is free to disconnect part of a UNE combination and use only that part to connect to a 
new form of transport. 

In addition to its claims that AT&T has violated the parties‟ ICA, Cbeyond 
contends that AT&T‟s conduct conflicts with various federal laws and regulations. None 
of Cbeyond‟s arguments is availing. 

AT&T notes that Cbeyond quotes at length from paragraph 587 of the TRO and 
asserts that it addresses “reconnection and non-recurring fees such as at issue in this 
case.” According to AT&T, this misrepresents what paragraph 587 provides. As the 
FCC made clear, it was addressing “conversions from wholesale services to UNEs or 
UNE combinations.” TRO, ¶ 587. The FCC was not addressing changing from one UNE 
or UNE combination to another UNE or UNE combination. Moreover, the FCC‟s 
discussion in the next paragraph of the TRO, not cited by Cbeyond, makes clear that 
“converting between wholesale services and UNEs (or UNE combinations) is largely a 
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billing function.” TRO, ¶ 588. That is not the case here, where actual work needs to be, 
and is, performed to change from one facility to another. 

Cbeyond‟s reliance on paragraph 575 of the TRO is equally unfounded.  While 
paragraph 575 does explain that EELs are UNE combinations, and prohibits incumbent 
carriers from limiting access to EELs, AT&T argues that it does not impose any 
requirements on incumbents to “rearrange” or “groom” one UNE combination to form a 
new, different UNE combination. 

The TRO‟s discussion of EELs, read as a whole, confirms the conclusion that the 
FCC was not concerned with, and did not issue any mandate regarding, the 
“rearrangement” or “grooming” of an EEL combination into a different EEL combination 
(or a stand-alone DS1 loop). The section of the TRO in which paragraph 575 is located 
concerns the impairment analysis used to determine whether UNE combinations must 
be unbundled by incumbent carriers.  

Cbeyond also cites paragraph 576 of the TRO. But paragraph 576 only supports 
the unremarkable proposition that the availability of EELs promotes competition.  
According to AT&T, it is not denying Cbeyond access to EELs. And this provision does 
not say anything about the costs associated with switching from one EEL combination 
to another, or the alleged impact of such costs on the development of competition. 
Likewise, Cbeyond quotes paragraph 71 of the TRRO for the proposition that the ability 
to earn revenue is the driving force behind development of competitive transport. Again, 
that is an unremarkable proposition that is wholly irrelevant to this case. AT&T asserts 
that this case is not about the revenues that Cbeyond or anyone else earns from 
offering competitive transport. 

In addition to its several irrelevant references to FCC orders, Cbeyond cites 
various FCC rules. AT&T argues that those do not help Cbeyond‟s case either. First, 
Cbeyond cites 47 C.F.R. § 51.319(e), which addresses the circumstances under which 
an ILEC must grant a CLEC access to UDT. Cbeyond‟s reliance on Section 51.319(e) 
fails for the same reasons as its reliance on Section 6.1 of the TRO/TRRO Amendment. 
There are no facts to support a claim of discrimination or denial of access. There is no 
dispute that AT&T provided the facilities Cbeyond ordered, and there is no dispute that 
Cbeyond did not order UDT as a separate UNE, which is the scenario that Section 
51.319(e) addresses. Moreover, even if it did apply, Section 51.319(e) cannot serve as 
the basis for a cause of action by Cbeyond. As Cbeyond notes, Section 51.319(e) is the 
regulation that implements Section 251(c)(3) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 
(“1996 Act”). Cbeyond Br. at 18. When parties negotiate an ICA they can agree to terms 
“without regard to” the requirements of Section 251(c). 

Finally, Cbeyond cites 47 C.F.R. § 51.507(e), which provides that “[n]on-recurring 
charges shall . . . not permit an incumbent LEC to recover more than the forward-
looking economic cost of providing the applicable element.” Cbeyond Br. at 13. Any 
argument that the rates that appear in the parties‟ ICA are inconsistent with Section 
51.507(e) constitutes a direct collateral attack on this Commission‟s decision in Docket 
No. 02-0864.  The 1996 Act gives carriers the right to privately negotiate an ICA 
“without regard” to the duties set forth in Sections 251(b) and (c) of the 1996 Act (47 
U.S.C. § 252(a)(1)), or the pricing standards set forth in Section 252(d) of the Act 
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(Verizon Communications, Inc. v. F.C.C., 535 U.S. 467, 492-93 (2002)).  Moreover, as 
with Section 251(c), the pricing standards in Section 252(a)(1) of the 1996 Act do not 
apply when the parties have negotiated their interconnection agreement, as they have 
done here.  

According to AT&T, the ICA contains the exclusive statement of Cbeyond‟s and 
AT&T‟s rights and obligations, and therefore the provisions of state law relied upon by 
Cbeyond are irrelevant to the parties‟ dispute. To the extent that Cbeyond argues that 
state law requires AT&T to go above and beyond what is required of it in the ICA, or to 
conduct itself contrary to the ICA‟s terms, state law is preempted. 

Moreover, AT&T notes that in the stipulation, Cbeyond did not identify any 
provisions of state law as being relevant to this dispute. Instead, it said that “the dispute 
must be analyzed in the context of the entire interconnection agreement and federal 
law.” Jt. Stip. ¶ 11.  Despite its acknowledgement that this case is all about the parties‟ 
ICA and its failure to identify state law as a relevant consideration, Cbeyond argues that 
AT&T has violated various provisions of the Illinois Act.  Specifically, Cbeyond argues 
that AT&T has violated Sections 13-514(6), 13-514(8), 13-514(10), 13-514(11), 13-
514(12) and 13-801 of the Act.   

Initially, though, AT&T notes that Cbeyond also asserts in its brief that AT&T 
Illinois has violated Sections 9-250, 13-514(1) and 13-514(2) of the Act.  But other than 
making that bald assertion and quoting the statutory language, Cbeyond does nothing 
to explain its claim of a violation by AT&T. and has failed to establish a claim for relief 
under Section 13-514(1), 13-514(2) or 9-250 and the Commission should enter 
judgment in AT&T‟s favor on those claims (part of Count I and all of Count III of 
Cbeyond‟s Complaint). 

Cbeyond argues that AT&T has violated Section 13-514(6) by “unreasonably 
acting in a manner that has had a substantial adverse effect on the ability of other 
carriers to provide transport services to Cbeyond.” Cbeyond Br. at 16. According to 
AT&T, that claim is not actionable under Section 13-514(6), at least not in a case 
brought by Cbeyond, as opposed to one brought by one of those “other carriers.” 
Cbeyond has not pled that AT&T has acted in a manner that affects Cbeyond‟s ability to 
provide service to its customers, which is the conduct that Section 13-514(6) proscribes. 

Moreover, as discussed above, AT&T asserts that it has at all times acted 
reasonably and in conformity with its ICA with Cbeyond. The prohibited action listed in 
Section 13-514(6) “is prefaced with the term „unreasonably‟” (21st Century Telecom of 
Illinois, Inc. v. Illinois Bell Telephone Co., No. 00-0219, 2000 WL 1344506, at *23 (ICC 
June 15, 2000)), as are the prohibited actions listed in subsections (8) and (10). If the 
conduct by AT&T about which Cbeyond complains was authorized by the parties‟ ICA, 
then Cbeyond cannot legitimately claim that the conduct is “unreasonable” under 
subsection (6), (8) or (10) of Section 13-514. AT&T avers that any state law that 
purports to create obligations for AT&T above and beyond, or in conflict with, the ICA 
would violate federal law and be preempted.  

With respect to Section 13-514(8), Cbeyond‟s claim is based on the assertion 
that AT&T has allegedly “violated the terms of the parties‟ Interconnection Agreement in 
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a manner that increases the cost, and impedes the availability of telecommunications 
services to consumers.” Cbeyond Br. at 20. The argument fails because, as 
demonstrated above, AT&T has not violated the ICA. 

AT&T argues that Cbeyond fares no better with Section 13-514(10). Cbeyond 
has not demonstrated that AT&T has unreasonably failed to offer unbundled network 
elements as required by the Commission and the FCC. There is no evidence that AT&T 
has not made available each and every UNE and UNE combination required by 
applicable law. As with subsection (6), “a simple allegation of the conduct [barred by 
subsection (10)] is not enough” to establish a violation of the statute; Cbeyond bears the 
burden to show “that the particular transgression was unreasonable in light of all the 
relevant surrounding circumstances.” 21st Century Telecom of Illinois, Inc., 2000 WL 
1344506, at *23.  

Nor has AT&T violated Section 13-514(12). Cbeyond‟s alleged basis for that 
claim is that AT&T has imposed nonrecurring charges that were not authorized by the 
Commission‟s Order in Docket 02-0864 (“02-0864 Order”). Cbeyond Br. at 20. As AT&T 
argues, and as Staff found, the disconnection and connection charges imposed by 
AT&T are appropriate and proper under the ICA and do not support a claim for violation 
of the 02-0864 Order. 

Finally, Cbeyond‟s allegation that AT&T has violated Section 13-801 (and thus 
Section 13-514(11)) fails because the portion of Section 13-801 (section (b)(1)(C)) upon 
which Cbeyond relies in its Complaint (at ¶ 71) requires proof that AT&T discriminated 
against Cbeyond in favor of some other party. Cbeyond has not presented any such 
proof. 

With respect to Cbeyond‟s discussion of the Commission‟s decision in the 
Globalcom case, AT&T states that Cbeyond egregiously misrepresents what the 
Commission held in Globalcom.  Order, Globalcom, Inc. v. Illinois Bell Telephone 
Company (Ameritech Illinois), Complaint Pursuant to 220 ILCS 5/13-515, 220 ILCS 
5/10-101 and 10-108, Docket 02-0365 (ICC Oct. 23, 2002)(“Globalcom”), rev’d in part, 
347 Ill. App. 3d 592 (1st Dist. 2004) (“Globalcom Appeal”). 

AT&T states that Cbeyond asserts that this Commission “notes” in Globalcom 
that AT&T “did not even offer EELs until 2001 – „in ostensible contravention of state and 
federal law.‟” Cbeyond Br. at 8 (quoting Globalcom at 19). That simply is not what the 
Commission decided in Globalcom. In making its misrepresentation, Cbeyond relies on 
a recitation of Globalcom‟s position, not a conclusion by the Commission. In so doing, 
Cbeyond ignores the extensive analysis of the Commission, and the clear and 
unambiguous conclusion by the Commission that AT&T offered EELs at all times that it 
was required to under a set of ever-changing rules. Globalcom at 27-31. It is simply 
unfathomable to AT&T how Cbeyond could have misrepresented Globalcom in such a 
blatant way. 

Cbeyond goes further and makes the argument that, even though the 
Commission‟s Globalcom decision was reversed in part, “every one of the 
Commission‟s findings on Ameritech‟s anticompetitive behavior were correct.” Cbeyond 
Br. at 10. That too is simply false, according to AT&T. On appeal, the Illinois appellate 
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court held that the Commission had erred in concluding that Ameritech‟s early 
termination fees violated subsections (6), (8) and (11) of Section 13-514 of the Act.  

Likewise, the Commission should ignore Cbeyond‟s references to Globalcom’s 
characterization of Ameritech‟s interpretation of its tariff as “statutorily unreasonable,” 
Cbeyond Br. at 9-10, 17, as those references too relate to the part of Globalcom that 
was reversed on appeal. The Globalcom case is not the smoking gun that Cbeyond 
pretends it to be.  

Even if Cbeyond could collaterally attack the Commission‟s 02-0864 Order, 
AT&T asserts that it performs substantial work to fulfill Cbeyond‟s Service Requests. 
AT&T explains that, because Cbeyond admits that the rates AT&T is charging for the 
services it performs are the rates this Commission established in its 02-0864 Order (see 
Complaint ¶¶ 30, 32, 34), Cbeyond‟s argument about what work AT&T does to perform 
these services is an impermissible collateral attack on the rates established in the 02-
0864 Order and the Commission‟s Order in Docket. 05-0147 incorporating those rates 
into the parties‟ ICA. 

Putting that aside, however, Cbeyond is incorrect about what work AT&T does.  
According to AT&T, it performs substantial work to fulfill Cbeyond‟s service requests.  
AT&T asserts that Cbeyond fails to present competent evidence that challenges AT&T 
on this point. Instead, as with its legal arguments, Cbeyond resorts to irrelevant and 
misleading assertions. 

Cbeyond‟s basic position is essentially that AT&T cannot justify its charges for 
performing work related to the DS1 loop when Cbeyond “rearranges” its DS1/DS1 EELs 
because AT&T performs no work on the loop. Cbeyond also asserts that it instructs 
AT&T not to test the loop because the loop is not changing. In addition, Cbeyond 
contends that any limited work that AT&T does perform related to the loop is recovered 
through nonrecurring charges (“NRCs”) for the work on the transport portion of the EEL 
or through monthly recurring charges (“MRCs”) for cross-connects.  It concludes that, if 
it is required to pay AT&T‟s charges to disconnect the loop portion of the existing EEL 
and to connect a new loop, it is making “payment for nothing.” Id. at 7. 

Cbeyond attempts to support these sweeping statements with a lengthy affidavit 
from Greg Darnell (Ex. B to Cbeyond Brief). However, Mr. Darnell‟s statements (and 
therefore Cbeyond‟s) are either inaccurate or meaningless, according to AT&T.  First, 
Cbeyond‟s assertion – that no “new wire” is involved in fulfilling its service requests 
because AT&T simply reuses the existing loop (Cbeyond Br. at 1-2) – is wrong.  
Although a portion of the loop from the existing DS1/DS1 EEL is re-used when the 
service is reconfigured, AT&T also must disconnect another portion of the existing loop 
running from the Main Distribution Frame (“MDF”) to the DSX-1 panel in the serving 
wire center. It also must run new wire from the MDF to a different DSX-1 panel that is 
connected to the new transport that Cbeyond has chosen. The need for this work, and 
its performance by AT&T, are confirmed by the two affidavits submitted by Mark T. 
Schilling, as well as the agreed diagrams in paragraphs 10(a) and (b) of the parties‟ 
Joint Stipulation. 
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Second, Cbeyond suggests that the fact that the circuit ID of the loop does not 
change when an order is completed somehow proves that AT&T performs no loop work 
on its orders (Cbeyond Br. at 2). Mr. Schilling explains, however, (Attach. N (Schilling 
Reply Aff.) ¶ 8), there is nothing ominous about the lack of change to the circuit ID, 
since a circuit can be redesigned without necessitating a change to the circuit ID. 
Moreover, AT&T must also update its records system to reflect the change in the 
transport arrangement for the circuit and the new DSX-1 panel to which the newly 
configured loop is connected. Id.  

Third, Cbeyond‟s reliance on a notation on the service order that the loop is not 
to be disconnected (Cbeyond Br. at 2, 6) is a red herring. The “do not disconnect” 
notation serves to flag the order as involving a hot cut project, a coordinated effort 
between AT&T and Cbeyond to disconnect and replace the existing circuit in a manner 
that minimizes disruption to Cbeyond‟s end-user customers. Attach. K (Christensen 
Reply Aff.) ¶ 5; Attach. N (Schilling Reply Aff.) ¶ 6; Attach. C (Schilling Aff.) ¶¶ 12, 19. 
Given that the order involves a hot cut, disconnection of the circuit obviously must 
occur. Attach. K (Christensen Reply Aff.) ¶ 5.  

Fourth, Cbeyond‟s assertion that it instructs AT&T not to test the loop when it 
completes the order (Cbeyond Br. at 4, 6) is unsupported by the record, and giving such 
an instruction would be a foolish business practice, according to AT&T. As support for 
the “no testing” instruction, Cbeyond cites the project worksheets attached to Mr. 
Darnell‟s Affidavit as Exhibit GJD-2. See Cbeyond Br. at 4 n.22, 6 n.42. Cbeyond 
provides no citation to any specific page in the 120 pages comprising the two parts of 
Exhibit GJD-2, and AT&T Illinois could not find a “no testing” instruction anywhere in the 
exhibit. See Exhibit GJD-2. Moreover, it makes no sense for Cbeyond not to want its 
circuits to be tested after they have been taken down. Unless the circuit is tested end to 
end after it has been disconnected and reconfigured, it is possible that the new circuit 
would not work, and Cbeyond‟s end-user would be left without service. Attach. N 
(Schilling Reply Aff.) ¶ 7. 

Fifth, Cbeyond contends that the only work AT&T performs related to the loop 
portion of the EEL is cross-connecting the existing loop to new transport (Cbeyond Br. 
at 4), and that AT&T recovers the cost of this work either through transport NRCs (id. at 
5) or through the MRC for cross-connects (id. at 6). AT&T states that Cbeyond‟s cost 
recovery arguments are both wrong. Although transport NRCs do include some cross-
connect work, those cross-connects are not on the side of the circuit serving the loop 
connection. Attach. J (Barch Reply Aff.) ¶ 7. In addition, the passage from the 02-0864 
Order on which Cbeyond and Mr. Darnell rely for the assertion that the cost of cross-
connects is recovered through an MRC does not support such a conclusion. Id. ¶ 8. 
Indeed, the Commission appears to have concluded the opposite. See 02-0864 Order 
at 178 (rejecting CLEC argument that all cross-connect activities for performing certain 
cross-connects should be excluded from NRCs).  According to AT&T, the Commission‟s 
Order in Docket 02-0864 confirms that AT&T is allowed to recover its costs for testing 
EELs. 02-0864 Order at 187. 
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Given all the work it performs, AT&T Illinois‟ billing of the rates established 
pursuant to the 02-0864 Order is appropriate, and Cbeyond should be required to pay 
those rates. 

B. Response to Staff 

Although AT&T addresses Staff‟s concerns, it posits that most of Staff‟s concerns 
about credits issued to Cbeyond are irrelevant to the issues before the Commission.  
AT&T notes that Cbeyond is not complaining about the many dollars in credits that 
AT&T has already provided; its complaint is that it is entitled to even more credits.  
Similarly, to the extent that Staff has raised a concern that AT&T may have overbilled 
Cbeyond, those claims are only relevant to the extent that Cbeyond raised them in its 
Complaint.  AT&T avers that this proceeding is not an open-ended foray into AT&T‟s 
bills to Cbeyond. 

In response to Staff‟s Problem Area 1, AT&T states that the issuance of multiple 
credits for the same charge was inadvertent and reflected an intent by the Company to 
make sure it had not billed Cbeyond inappropriately.  Such multiple credits do not 
indicate that AT&T wavered in the position that, when Cbeyond engages in grooming its 
network, it should be billed the appropriate charges under the ICA both for 
disconnecting its existing DS1/DS1 EELs and for connecting its new DS1/DS3 EELs. 

According to AT&T, some of the charges questioned by Staff in Problem Area 2 
result from a billing error under which AT&T billed less than what the correct charge 
would have been.  The other charges (or credits) questioned by Staff turn on whether 
the order that Cbeyond submitted necessitated a change in the Access Carrier Terminal 
Location (“ACTL”) for the circuit at issue.   

Problem Area 3 has a value of $29.96.  Rather than investing time and money to 
investigate this area, AT&T indicated that it will issue Cbeyond a credit for these four 
charges, without conceding that its billing was inappropriate. 

AT&T explains that Problem Area 4 involves credits that were issued prior to May 
2007 and, therefore most likely involve a credit for a billing issue involving the ACTL.  
For a period of time AT&T billed for changes to the ACTL, but then credited Cbeyond 
because no change was made to the ACTL. 

Problem Area 5 also involves credits for the ACTL where no changes were 
made.  This Problem Area also involves charges for CCC, which is an option available 
in the EEL provisioning section.  Accordingly, AT&T states that if Cbeyond‟s orders for 
reconfiguration of its DS1/DS1 EELs were coded to request CCC, AT&T would bill the 
appropriate charges for that service. 

AT&T concludes by stating that it has billed Cbeyond in accordance with the 
parties‟ ICA when Cbeyond submitted orders to change its DS1/DS1 EELs to either 
DS1/DS3 EELs or stand-alone DS1 loops.  AT&T notes that Staff agrees that the ICA 
provides no other way for AT&T to fulfill and bill Cbeyond‟s orders. AT&T asserts that 
this should end the Commission‟s inquiry.  Because AT&T has complied with the ICA, it 
could not have violated any provision of state or federal law.  Moreover, AT&T argues 
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that it performs substantial work to fulfill Cbeyond‟s orders, so that its charges are 
justified. 

VIII. Cbeyond’s Response 

Cbeyond reiterates in its Reply Brief that an EEL is a combination of two or more 
UNEs, specifically, a UNE loop and UNE transport, but that EELs are not themselves 
UNEs.  Cbeyond also argues that the FCC has found that AT&T must combine or 
separate the UNEs that make up an EEL upon request.  TRO at ¶ 573.  Because the 
provisioning of the UNEs that make up an EEL can be accomplished more efficiently 
than provisioning the UNEs that make up the EEL alone, some states, including Illinois, 
specifically price the combination of the UNEs.  That pricing, according to Cbeyond, 
does not convert an EEL into a single UNE or require the ILECs to bundle the UNEs. 

Cbeyond sees AT&T and Staff to argue that AT&T may tie the UNEs in an EEL 
together.  According Cbeyond, however, this is counter to FCC rule 51.307(d) which 
states that: 

An incumbent LEC shall provide a requesting telecommunications carrier 
access to the facility or functionality of a requested network element 
separate from access to the facility or functionality of other network 
elements, for a separate charge. 

47 C.F.R. § 51.307(d).  Cbeyond notes that the parties‟ ICA includes this same 
prohibition in Article 9, section 9.1.3 and 9.1.4.   

Cbeyond also argues that section 6.1 of the TRRO Amendment supports its 
position that the ICA requires the provisioning of both new EELs and an EEL that is 
being converted. Cbeyond states that Section 6.0 is specific regarding the provisioning 
of EELs - both the provision of a new EEL and an EEL that is being converted.  
According to Cbeyond, rearrangement of an EEL is simply changing a UNE within it.   

With respect to TA96, Cbeyond argues that the ICA codifies the legal obligations 
of the parties under that law and governs the interpretation of the ICA.  Cbeyond notes 
and disagrees with AT&T‟s argument that the ICA preempts all state and federal rules 
and laws.  Cbeyond argues that to the extent that the Commission is required to 
interpret ambiguities in the ICA, it must do so in conformity with the federal and state 
law.  Here, Cbeyond believes the Commission is presented with two opposing contract 
interpretations of what an “appropriate service request” means and what the TRRO 
Amendment means.  Because the interpretation offered by AT&T and Staff creates an 
illegal UNE tying arrangement and violates TELRIC, the law compels the interpretation 
proposed by Cbeyond. 

Cbeyond asserts that the ICA contains specific terms for changing the transport 
portion of an EEL.  Cbeyond cites to the specific lines in Amendment 1, Attachment A to 
the ICA.  Cbeyond argues that these lines show that Staff is incorrect when it states that 
ICA does not contain a rate for cancelling just the transport portion of an EEL. 
Moreover, Cbeyond states that the rates were supported by separate evidence in the 
UNE rate docket.  This holds true for both service ordering charges and provisioning 
charges, according to Cbeyond.  Cbeyond also notes that in Docket 02-0864 the CLECs 
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attempted to use the lower transport rates that applied to EELs for all transport, but the 
AT&T witness noted that the costs are different.  Because the ICA contains rates 
specific to the disconnection of the piece parts of an EEL, Cbeyond argues it should be 
able to deconstruct an EEL.  

Cbeyond points to several specific items of Staff and AT&T that it believes are 
incorrect.  First it notes that Staff and AT&T ignore the fact that Cbeyond‟s orders 
specifically state that the loop should not be disconnected.  Cbeyond states that if the 
totality of provisioning activities performed by AT&T are changing the cross-connect at 
one end of the loop, then AT&T may not charge a loop provisioning NRC for that activity 
under TELRIC.  According to Cbeyond, Staff erroneously equates what actually 
happens (the temporary hot cut to new transport via a changed cross-connect) to 
something that does not happen (an actual disconnection).   

Second, Cbeyond asserts that Staff and AT&T fail to address the Commission‟s 
prior UNE ratemaking decisions.  Specifically, Cbeyond argues that it does not matter 
what work AT&T actually does, what matters for the purpose of determining what 
charges in the ICA apply is what work is assumed to be done by a least-cost most 
efficient carrier.  This assumption, according to Cbeyond, must guide the Commission‟s 
decision.  Based on Docket 02-0864, Cbeyond states that all loop and transport 
nonrecurring charges in the ICA for UNEs provided as part of an EEL contain additional 
costs for an assumed connection to an intermediate distribution frame (“IDF”).  
According to Cbeyond, the history of Docket 02-0864 is relevant to this case because 
the rates Cbeyond is charged assume that unbundled loops and unbundled transport in 
an EEL are physically separated by an intermediate distribution frame. 

Third, Cbeyond disagrees with Staff‟s interpretation of the CCC charge.  
Cbeyond points out that prior to it ordering the transport circuit between its collocation in 
a distant end office and the main distribution frame (or its equivalent) in the service wire 
center, no circuit between these two points existed.  Cbeyond states that it and AT&T 
are in agreement that Cbeyond always orders CCC at the time it first orders a DS1 
circuit.  Therefore, Cbeyond argues, no CCC charges should ever be assessed against 
Cbeyond.   

With respect to the problems with the billing records identified by Staff, Cbeyond 
states that the complaint is over the entire class of loop charges, not the specifics of the 
bill.  Also, it states that the totality of relief requested with regard to the bill is an order 
that AT&T credit Cbeyond all inappropriate charges - not a request for a specific 
amount. According to Cbeyond, the records provided are not all that are available nor 
do they show all the charges Cbeyond has paid.  For these reasons, Cbeyond does not 
address Staff‟s criticisms concerning the bill dispute data here.   

Cbeyond also takes issue with AT&T‟s request that the Commission direct 
Cbeyond to pay all disputed charges within 30 days of the Commission‟s order.  
Cbeyond argues that a grant, denial or partial grant of Cbeyond‟s Petition is all that is 
available as an outcome in this matter.  Cbeyond notes that AT&T has not 
counterclaimed for any relief and is not entitled to request it.   Cbeyond has the money 
at issue in this case - it has disputed AT&T‟s bills and not paid them. 
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IX. Commission Analysis and Conclusion 

As is so often the case, this complaint is about money and nothing else.  There is 
no allegation and no evidence that AT&T is refusing to provide service or that AT&T is 
providing substandard service to Cbeyond.  The only question is how much Cbeyond 
should pay for the service it orders, and receives, from AT&T. 

Under the relevant portions of the ICA, Cbeyond has the option to order 
individual UNEs: DS1 loop, DS1 UDT and DS3 UDT.  It may also purchase UNEs in 
combination: a DS1 loop in combination with DS1 UDT (DS1/DS1 EEL) and DS1 loops 
in combination with DS3 UDT (DS1/DS3 EEL).  The UNEs and UNE combinations 
represent five different offerings or products available under the ICA.  The underlying 
components of the EEL - loops and transport - are UNEs, but the EELs themselves are 
not UNEs.  The issue here is what charges are appropriate when Cbeyond cancels a 
DS1/DS1 EEL and either orders a DS1/DS3 EEL or a stand-alone DS1 loop.  Cbeyond 
refers to these two scenarios as rearrangements. 

Although Cbeyond alleges various violations of state and federal law, the 
Commission finds that this matter is controlled by the ICA, and no further evidentiary 
inquiry is required.  Our review of the record, which consists of the parties‟ pleadings 
and the Joint Stipulation, shows that AT&T has provided Cbeyond with EELs and EEL 
rearrangements according to the rates and terms of the ICA.   

A. State Law 

This Complaint is controlled by the terms of ICA.  A further review of the statutory 
provisions relied on by the Complainant affirms this decision.  Cbeyond, at various 
points throughout this proceeding, invokes Section 13-514 generally and also the 
following subsections of Section 13-514: 

(1) unreasonably refusing or delaying interconnections or collocation or providing 
inferior connections to another telecommunications carrier 

(2) unreasonably impairing the speed, quality, or efficiency of services used by 
another telecommunications carrier 

(6) unreasonably acting or failing to act in a manner that has a substantial 
adverse effect on the ability of another telecommunications carrier to provide 
service to its customers 

(8) violating the terms of or unreasonably delaying implementation of an 
interconnection agreement entered into pursuant to Section 252 of the federal 
Telecommunications Act of 1996 in a manner that unreasonably delays, 
increases the cost, or impedes the availability of telecommunications services 
to consumers 

(10) unreasonably failing to offer network elements that the Commission or the 
Federal Communications Commission has determined must be offered on an 
unbundled basis to another telecommunications carrier in a manner 
consistent with the Commission‟s or Federal Communications Commission‟s 
orders or rules requiring such offerings 
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(11) violating the obligations of Section 13-801 

(12) violating an order of the Commission regarding matters between 
telecommunications carriers 

Before addressing the individual sections of the Act, we note that for several of 
the statutory provisions raised by Cbeyond its treatment is cursory.  It is not sufficient, 
especially in a 13-514 proceeding, to merely state that AT&T has violated a statutory 
section without providing any further argument or evidentiary support.  For instance, 
Cbeyond has not provided any support for its claim of violations of Section 13-514 (1) 
and (2) and the Commission cannot and, indeed, should not attempt to create one.   

Similarly, with respect to Section 13-514(6), Cbeyond claims that AT&T‟s actions 
have had an adverse effect on the ability of other carriers to provide transport services 
to Cbeyond.  Other than this bald statement, no other support for this assertion has 
been provided.  Cbeyond also does not argue that it has been unable to provide service 
to its customers.  Indeed, it has been shown that AT&T has provided all the services 
requested by Cbeyond and has not yet been paid.  Thus, there is no support for 
Cbeyond‟s claim under Section 13-514(6). 

Section 13-514(8) involves violations of the parties‟ ICA.  If Cbeyond had actually 
shown that AT&T violated the ICA it might have had a claim under this section.  As 
discussed below, however, Cbeyond has not shown that AT&T has violated the parties‟ 
ICA. 

With respect to 13-514(10), Cbeyond invokes the FCC regulations that relate to 
unbundled dedicated transport (“UDT”) and alleges that AT&T is in violation because it 
charges for the disconnection and reconnection of the loop portion of an DS1/DS1 EEL 
when Cbeyond wishes to just change the transport.  The problem is that Cbeyond is not 
ordering UDT, but rather it is ordering UDT in combination with a loop - an EEL.  
Moreover, it is not even an EEL that is at issue, but rather the rearranging of the 
DS1/DS1 EEL.  Hence, the FCC regulations regarding UDT do not apply.  The only 
question is what charges should apply when Cbeyond cancels a DS1/DS1 EEL and 
either orders a DS1/DS3 EEL or a stand-alone loop.  Cbeyond has not shown AT&T to 
be in violation of any federal or state regulations as required for a finding under 13-
514(10) nor has Cbeyond brought any rules to the Commission‟s attention regarding 
EEL rearrangements. 

Although Cbeyond attempts to argue that AT&T has violated the Commission‟s 
Order in Docket 02-0864, which could be a violation of Section 13-514(12), the 
argument fails.  This case involves the “rearranging” of EELs, a product or service not 
contemplated in that proceeding.  We also are reassured in the accuracy of this 
decision because of Staff‟s careful analysis, wherein Staff reached the conclusion that 
AT&T has not violated the Commission‟s Order in Docket 02-0864. 

Cbeyond also points to Section 5/13-515 of the Act, which contains the 
procedures to be used to enforce the provisions of Section 13-514.  The parties have 
waived the deadlines contained in 13-515 and the various other procedural 
requirements, but the Commission‟s costs will be assessed pursuant to this Section.  
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AT&T, however, cannot be said to have violated Section 13-515 for its actions relating 
to EELs because 13-515 is a procedural statute that attaches to 13-514. 

Cbeyond further requests that AT&T be found in violation of 13-801(b).  In its 
Complaint, Cbeyond asserts that AT&T violated Section 13-801(b)(1)(C), which requires 
proof that AT&T discriminated against Cbeyond in favor of some other party. Cbeyond 
has not presented any such proof or even argument. In the body of its Initial Brief, 
Cbeyond also states that Section 13-801 “mirrors federal obligation” Cbeyond I.B. at 13.  
Accordingly, the Commission will address those federal obligations below. 

Section 9-250, which was also cited by Cbeyond, gives the Commission power to 
impose new rates after it has determined that the rates charged by a utility are unjust, 
etc.  We make no such determination here.  We also note that this is another instance 
where Cbeyond cites a statutory section with no further argument or support. 

It is not necessary to make a decision regarding the legal issue of the 
applicability of state statutory provisions where there is an executed ICA because 
Cbeyond has failed to make a showing to support a finding in its favor on any of the 
state statutory sections that it relies. 

B. Federal Law and the ICA 

There is a Commission approved ICA between the parties that covers the two 
scenarios at issue here and, not surprisingly, requires large payments due AT&T from 
Cbeyond.  Because the ICA includes rates, terms and conditions to accomplish what 
Cbeyond wants, but not at the price it wants, the Commission must deny the Complaint.   

The Commission sees Cbeyond to vary between asserting that the ICA does not 
contain prices for rearrangements to asserting that for the rearrangements it should only 
be charged the price contained in the ICA for disconnecting the transport portion of the 
EEL.  We agree with AT&T that these two positions are inherently conflicted and find 
that the ICA does not contain a price specific to rearrangements.   

The Commission reads the ICA in the same manner as Staff.  Specifically, the 
Third Amendment to the ICA, the TRO/TRRO Amendment, lists the products available 
to Cbeyond.  Among others, there are sections for DS1 loops, DS1 transport, DS3 
transport and sections for DS1 EELs and DS3 EELs.  These are separate and distinct 
products with separate and distinct rates.  The charges are different when a stand-alone 
UNE loop is involved versus when a UNE loop is ordered as part of an EEL.   

Moreover, the price, when added together, of a UNE loop and UDT is higher than 
when ordered as part of an EEL.  Naturally, Cbeyond wants the lower price.  Cbeyond 
orders the EEL because it is cheaper to connect, but then does not want to pay to 
disconnect it.  Cbeyond may be correct that the cost to “rearrange” from one type of 
EEL to another is cheaper than disconnecting the EEL and then connecting the new 
EEL.  The problem is that, like AT&T and Staff argue, the two step process is the only 
way to “rearrange” an EEL pursuant to the ICA.  

In the Third Amendment to the parties‟ ICA, it states that “the Parties wish to 
amend the Agreement in order to give contractual effect to the effective portions of the 
TRO, TRO Reconsideration Orders, and TRO Remand as set forth herein.”  Third 
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Amendment, 6th whereas paragraph.  The Commission agrees with AT&T that because 
the parties have an ICA that “gives contractual effect” to the FCC‟s relevant orders, it 
would be difficult to find in Cbeyond‟s favor solely on the basis of the FCC‟s order.  
Even if the ICA didn‟t control, however, the FCC‟s orders don‟t help Cbeyond‟s case. 

Cbeyond quotes various sections of the FCC‟s TRO, notably paragraphs 576 and 
587.  These paragraphs state, in whole, that: 

576. Based on the record before us, we conclude that EELs facilitate the 
growth of facilities-based competition in the local market.  The availability 
of EELs extends the geographic reach for competitive LECs because 
EELs enable requesting carriers to serve customers by extending a 
customer‟s loop from the end office serving that customer to a different 
end office in which the competitive LEC is already located.  In this way, 
EELs also allow competitive LECs to reduce their collocation costs by 
aggregating loops at fewer collocation locations and then transporting the 
customer‟s traffic to their own switches.  Moreover, we find that access to 
EELs also promotes self-deployment of interoffice transport facilities by 
competitive LECs because such carriers will eventually self-provision 
transport facilities to accommodate growing demand.  We further agree 
that the availability of EELs and other UNE combinations promotes 
innovation because competitive LECs can provide advanced switching 
capabilities in conjunction with loop-transport combinations. 

587. We decline to require incumbent LECs provide requesting carriers 
an opportunity to supersede or dissolve existing contractual arrangements 
through a conversion request.  Thus, to the extent a competitive LEC 
enters into a long-term contract to receive discounted special access 
services, such competitive LEC cannot dissolve the long-term contract 
based on a future decision to convert the relevant circuits to UNE 
combinations based on changes in customer usage.  We recognize, 
however, that once a competitive LEC starts serving a customer, there 
exists a risk of wasteful and unnecessary charges, such as termination 
charges, re-connect and disconnect fees, or non-recurring charges 
associated with establishing a service for the first time.  We agree that 
such charges could deter legitimate conversions from wholesale services 
to UNEs or UNE combinations, or could unjustly enrich an incumbent LEC 
as a result of converting a UNE or UNE combination to a wholesale 
service.  Because incumbent LECs are never required to perform a 
conversion in order to continue serving their own customers, we conclude 
that such charges are inconsistent with an incumbent LEC‟s duty to 
provide nondiscriminatory access to UNEs and UNE combinations on just, 
reasonable and nondiscriminatory rates, terms, and conditions.  Moreover, 
we conclude that such charges are inconsistent with section 202 of the 
Act, which prohibits carriers from subjecting any person or class of 
persons (e.g., competitive LECs purchasing UNEs or UNE combinations) 
to any undue or unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage. 
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TRO at ¶576, ¶587. 

Similar to paragraph 587, the TRO/TRRO Attachment Section 6.1 states that 
“SBC shall provide access to Section 251 UNEs and combinations of Section 251 UNEs 
without regard to whether a CLEC seeks access to the UNEs to establish a new circuit 
or to convert an existing circuit from a service to UNEs, provided the rates, terms and 
conditions under which such Section 251 UNEs are to be provided are included within 
the CLEC‟s underlying Agreement”. 

Cbeyond argues that this section of the ICA and the TRO require the rearranging 
of existing EELs.  It relies specifically on the term “to convert an existing circuit to 
UNEs”.  The Commission does not read it the same way.  An existing circuit is a circuit 
that was a Cbeyond customer being served through special access tariffs and now will 
keep the same circuit but pay UNE prices.  If the parties had intended that to “convert 
an existing circuit” meant to convert an existing EEL, the ICA would say just that, i.e., to 
“convert an existing EEL”.  It does not, which leads us to conclude that Cbeyond is 
mistaken. 

Furthermore, in ¶ 587 of the TRO, the FCC found that re-connect and 
disconnection fees in these instances could deter conversion to UNEs or UNE 
combinations from special access service.  The FCC‟s reasoning was that ILECs are 
never required to perform a conversion in order to continue serving their own customers 
because it is only a billing function.  That reasoning does not apply here.  The two 
scenarios at issue here involve more than billing changes and, at the very least, there is 
work done on the cross connects. 

Cbeyond‟s reliance on the Commission‟s Globalcom Order is similarly 
misleading.  That proceeding involved the question of whether or not it was permissible 
for AT&T to charge termination charges and various other requirements when a CLEC 
switched from special access service to UNE service.  That is not the fact situation here.  

Cbeyond also states that AT&T is in violation of the TRO/TRRO Attachment 
Section 6.1, which states that “SBC [AT&T] shall not impose any additional conditions or 
limitations upon obtaining access to EELs or to any other UNE combination other than 
those set out in this Agreement.”  There is no allegation that AT&T is imposing any 
conditions on EELs, rather Cbeyond‟s argument is that AT&T‟s process for rearranging 
EELs results in prices that are too high.  The two step process of disconnecting the 
DS1/DS1 EEL and connecting either a DS1/DS3 EEL or a standalone loop is the only 
process contained in the ICA to effectuate what Cbeyond wishes to do.  TRO/TRRO 
Attachment Section 6.5 and Section 9.1.2 of the original ICA contain similar prohibitions 
and do not support Cbeyond‟s position.   

AT&T is alleged to have violated TRO/TRRO Attachment Sections 3.1.4 (DS1 
Transport) and 3.1.5 (DS3 Transport), which state that AT&T must provide non-
discriminatory access, at Cbeyond‟s request, to Unbundled Dedicated Transport.  The 
UDT rules and the ICA sections that give contractual effect to them do not apply to EEL 
rearrangements. 

Cbeyond further argues that AT&T is illegally attempting to tie the UNE loop to 
UNE transport and, for the first time in its Reply Brief, Cbeyond cites to FCC rule 51.307 
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which prohibits illegal tying.  This argument is misleading.  There is no allegation in the 
record that AT&T is not allowing Cbeyond to individually order UNE loops or individually 
order UNE transport.  The problem is that Cbeyond does not want to pay to separate 
them once it has asked that they be joined.   

Cbeyond claims that the ICA contains a price for disconnecting the transport 
portion of the EEL.  Although on its face this appears to support Cbeyond, a closer 
reading of the record does not.  Cbeyond quotes the rebuttal testimony of AT&T witness 
Silver from Docket 02-0864 (Attachment G to Cbeyond‟s Reply Brief), where he states 
“when UDT is used as a component of an EEL in combination with an unbundled loop, 
some of the nonrecurring costs incurred when provisioning UDT on a stand-alone basis 
will not apply.  It is that recognition that led SBC Illinois to determine a separate cost for 
UDT when it is used as a component of the EEL.” Cbeyond R.B at 16.  This quote 
supports the proposition that UDT costs are lower when part of an EEL than for stand-
alone UDT.  This quote does not support Cbeyond‟s position that it may merely cancel 
the UDT portion of the EEL.  Indeed, what this quote suggests to the Commission is that 
Cbeyond wants the lower costs of provisioning a DS1/DS1 EEL, but does not want to 
accept the rest of the ICA terms that apply to the DS1/DS1 EEL.  It appears as though 
Cbeyond is attempting to re-litigate an issue it lost in Docket 02-0864.   

The First Amendment to the ICA contains the prices the parties have agreed to 
and Cbeyond is correct that in the charges for a DS1/DS1 EEL there is a separate line 
item for disconnecting the UDT portion of the loop.  Cbeyond would like to pick and 
choose what charges it will pay.  For instance, if Cbeyond orders a loop, there are lots 
of NRCs that go along with that order, including several for when it disconnects the 
loop.  For example, it cannot choose to pay the provisioning disconnection charge, but 
not the service order disconnection charge that goes along with disconnecting the loop.  
Similarly if it wants to disconnect an EEL, it cannot just pay some of the disconnection 
charges as it wants to here.   

For all these reasons, Cbeyond has not shown that AT&T has violated the 
Interconnection Agreement and, thus, Cbeyond‟s Complaint is denied.  We note, 
however, that although Cbeyond‟s Complaint is denied, it is not left without a course of 
action.  Cbeyond and AT&T are currently operating under an ICA that expired in 
February of 2010. Apparently Cbeyond has been “rearranging” EELs since 2006, but 
has not yet attempted to negotiate a new ICA that would contain rates specific to 
“rearrangements.” It is baffling to the Commission why Cbeyond has not sought to 
amend its contract. 

Cbeyond is free to commence negotiations with AT&T on a new ICA.  During 
such negotiations Cbeyond could request that the rearrangement service and related 
rates be included in the new ICA.  If it cannot negotiate such an agreement with AT&T, 
Cbeyond could seek arbitration before the Commission to include the rearrangement 
service and rates. 

This may address Cbeyond‟s issues in the future, but Cbeyond has not shown 
that AT&T has acted improperly in the past with respect to the charges at issue here.  
Indeed, because the parties have a signed, Commission-approved interconnection 
agreement that contains rates and processes to effectuate the rearrangements 
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requested by Cbeyond, it is not appropriate for the Commission to rewrite the ICA to 
incorporate new rates.   

Cbeyond cites various federal regulations (47 C.F.R §51.507(e)), ICA sections 
(ICA Section 9.1.1) and section 251 of TA96 that it believes supports its position that the 
rates AT&T charges for the two-step process are improper and not TELRIC compliant.  
If Cbeyond decides to pursue either an arbitration or a generic proceeding, then the 
Commission would look at what work AT&T is performing and determine what rates 
should apply for “rearrangements”.   

Although an investigation into the proper rates for rearrangements is not proper 
here, it bears noting that the Joint Stipulation is contrary to Cbeyond‟s position that no 
work is performed on the loop for rearrangements.  The charts contained in the 
Stipulation show that the loop ends at the DSX-1 Jack Panel. The connection from the 
MDF to the DSX-1 Jack Panel is altered in both scenarios at issue here.  Accordingly, 
the Joint Stipulation supports AT&T‟s statements that work must be done to complete 
the rearrangements requested by Cbeyond.  Staff‟s thorough brief clearly explains the 
steps involved.  In its Brief on Exceptions, Cbeyond attempts to argue that it would be 
premature to issue an Order at this point in time because there is still an outstanding 
issue of fact regarding the work performed.  Cbeyond is incorrect.  The amount of work 
performed is not at issue because AT&T has billed Cbeyond consistent with the rates 
and terms contained in the ICA and, therefore, it is not necessary to look at the work 
underlying the rates in the ICA.  

Because Cbeyond argues that this is not a billing dispute, it believes that it does 
not need to show the incorrect bills.  The Commission is left to wonder then, had it 
found in Cbeyond‟s favor, on what basis the Commission could order relief.  A ruling, 
like that requested by Cbeyond (“order AT&T to credit Cbeyond for all inappropriate 
charges imposed since inception”), would undoubtedly lead to further disputes.   

Also Staff asserts that the billing records attached to the Complaint do not show 
that AT&T has billed Cbeyond according to the two-step process, but this is not a 
question before the Commission either.  Cbeyond, the Complainant, has not made such 
an assertion, let alone proven it, and, therefore, it is not properly before the 
Commission.   

Because Cbeyond‟s Complaint is denied in its entirety, Cbeyond is directed to 
pay 100% of the Commission‟s costs. 

X. CBeyond's Motion To Reopen The Record For The Limited Purpose Of 
Filing The First Amended Complaint Instanter 

On January 25, 2011, Cbeyond filed a motion to amend its Complaint.  This 
motion was granted, in part, by the ALJ on February 23, 2011.  Cbeyond was given 
leave to amend its complaint to specify the ICA sections that it believed AT&T had 
violated.  CBeyond did not file an Amended Complaint until April 5, 2011, when it filed a 
Motion to Reopen the Record for the Limited Purpose of Filing an Amended Complaint - 
three weeks after the ALJ‟s Proposed Order was issued and the record was closed.  
Staff and AT&T opposed Cbeyond‟s Motion. 
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The Commission grants Cbeyond‟s Motion to Reopen the Record for the Limited 
Purpose of Filing an Amended Complaint.  While it is clear that Cbeyond should have 
made this filing earlier, it is not prejudicial to AT&T to allow this filing.  The Amended 
Complaint specifies ICA sections which are some of sections addressed by Cbeyond at 
various points of the proceeding and are addressed fully above and in no way support a 
finding in Cbeyond‟s favor.   

XI. CBeyond's Motion To Voluntarily Dismiss Its Complaint With Prejudice 

The Commission will not grant Cbeyond‟s Motion to Dismiss its Complaint.  a 
dismissal at this point would be prejudicial to AT&T and appears to be an attempt on 
Cbeyond‟s part to avoid an adverse ruling. 

In its Motion, Cbeyond relies on the Jones v. SEC case for the proposition that it 
has a right to withdraw its Complaint.  See, Jones v. SEC, 298 U.S. 1 (1935).  In Jones, 
the petitioner filed a registration statement covering a proposed issue of securities with 
the Security & Exchange Commission.  After the SEC sent notice to the petitioner to 
appear and show cause why a stop order should not be issued suspending the 
effectiveness of its registration statement, the petitioner sought to formally withdraw its 
registration statement.  The SEC denied the motion to withdraw the registration 
statement, but the Supreme Court disagreed and ruled that the agency was incorrect in 
not allowing the petitioner to voluntarily withdraw the registration statement.   

Jones is inapplicable to the current proceeding.  The court therein made its ruling 
based on the fact that there were no adverse parties that would be prejudiced by a 
withdrawal.  That is clearly not the case here and, indeed, AT&T would be prejudiced.  
As AT&T states, “allowing Cbeyond to voluntarily dismiss on the eve of a final decision 
by the Commission would circumvent the dispute resolution process set forth in the ICA 
and severely prejudice AT&T Illinois by leaving unresolved the parties‟ dispute over the 
proper interpretation of the ICA as it relates to the amounts that AT&T Illinois has billed 
and Cbeyond has refused to pay.”  AT&T Response to Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss at 
9.  The Supreme Court also ruled that the petitioner should be allowed to withdraw its 
registration statement because it would have the same outcome as the stop order the 
SEC sought to issue.  The Jones fact scenario is entirely different than here where there 
is a Respondent that will be prejudiced and the Order provides an interpretation of 
contract language. 

Cbeyond attempts to claim that AT&T has no right to collect the outstanding 
charges related to the dispute over “rearrangements.”  Cbeyond asserts that AT&T 
should have filed a counterclaim and is now time-barred from attempting to collect on 
any occurrences more than 24 months old.  Cbeyond is incorrect.  AT&T billed Cbeyond 
according to the two-step process outlined above.  Cbeyond, upon receiving the bills, 
properly began the dispute resolution process within the 24 months of the date of the 
occurrence.  Now that the dispute has been resolved by the Commission in favor of 
AT&T, the Commission sees no reason to stop AT&T from pursuing Cbeyond for the 
amounts billed.   
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XII. Findings and Ordering Paragraphs 

The Commission, having given due consideration to the entire record and being 
fully advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds that:  

(1) Cbeyond Communications, LLP is a Delaware-based Limited Liability 
Corporation with its headquarters in Georgia and is a certificated 
telecommunications service provider in Illinois; 

(2) Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Illinois is an Illinois 
corporation engaged in the business of providing telecommunications 
services to the public in the State of Illinois and, as such, is a 
telecommunications carrier within the meaning of Section 13-202 of the 
Illinois Public Utilities Act; 

 
(3) the Commission has jurisdiction over Illinois Bell Telephone Company, 

Cbeyond Communications, LLP and the subject matter of this proceeding; 
 
(4) the parties‟ interconnection agreement does not contain rates specific to 

the rearrangement of EELs and under the interconnection agreement, the 
only way to effectuate a rearrangement is by first cancelling the DS1/DS1 
EEL and then ordering either the DS1/DS3 EEL or a stand-alone loop; 

(5) Cbeyond Communications, LLP has not shown that Illinois Bell Telephone 
Company has violated state law, federal law or the parties‟ interconnection 
agreement; 

(6) for the reasons stated in findings (4) and (5), Cbeyond Communications, 
LLP‟s Complaint is denied; 

(7) Cbeyond Communications, LLP‟s Motion To Reopen The Record For The 
Limited Purpose Of Filing The First Amended Complaint Instanter is 
granted; 

(8) Cbeyond Communications, LLP‟s Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss the 
Complaint is denied; 

(9) Cbeyond is directed to pay 100% of the Commission‟s costs pursuant to 
Section 13-515(g) of the Public Utilities Act. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Complaint filed by Cbeyond 
Communications, LLP against Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Illinois on 
March 9, 2010, is hereby denied. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to Section 13-515(g) of the Public 
Utilities Act, Cbeyond Communications, LLP is directed to pay the Commission‟s costs 
of this proceeding.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that subject to the provisions of Section 10-113 of 
the Public Utilities Act and 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.880, this Order is final; it is not subject 
to the Administrative Review Law. 



10-0188 

37 

 

 By Order of the Commission this 7th day of July, 2011. 

 
 
 
 
      (SIGNED) DOUGLAS P. SCOTT 
 
        Chairman 
 


